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OUR VISION
To serve mankind.

OUR MISSION
To serve and reach out to our patients, their families and the community, regardless of race,
colour, creed, language, culture and religion. To rehabilitate and heal with commitment and
professionalism, in an environment of continuous learning and growth.

About Us
Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital is a patient-centric community
hospital providing rehabilitative and sub-acute care. Our multidisciplinary healthcare team develops a personalised and
comprehensive programme for each patient to enhance their recovery
process. Our aim is to help patients achieve independence and assist
them in their integration back into society after discharge.
We work closely with the restructured hospitals to ensure smooth
patient referrals to our hospital. Through our joint efforts, patients
are transferred to our hospital faster and can start their rehabilitation
journey earlier. About 83% of our patients are referred by Tan Tock
Seng Hospital (TTSH), Singapore General Hospital (SGH) and Khoo
Teck Puat Hospital (KTPH).

OUR VALUES
Professionalism

We are committed to provide excellent healthcare and be
the best in what we do; and to achieve the best possible
outcome for our patients.

Integrity

We are committed to the highest standards of ethical
conduct in whatever we do.

Teamwork

We are committed to promote collaborations, esprit de
corps and build trust between individuals and our partners.

Can-do!

We are committed to do our best and make the impossible
possible under all circumstances!

Heart

We are committed to serve the needs of our patients
and those who need our help through open and personal
communication. We are compassionate and truly care for
the well-being of all mankind.

(Communication/Compassion)
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
The year 2020 saw a novel coronavirus pandemic
sweep the globe, affecting the healthcare sector in
both predictable and unpredictable ways. While the
lessons of the severe acute respiratory syndrome
(SARS) epidemic in 2003 had not been forgotten,
the coronavirus disease that emerged in early
2020, which was eventually named COVID-19,
proved to be much more difficult to deal with.

Mr Lee Kim Siang
Chairman
ANG MO KIO - THYE HUA KWAN HOSPITAL

Overcoming together
The COVID-19 situation tested, and continues to
test us, stretching the capacity of our facilities
and people. In this, we have been able to rise, and
continue to rise to the challenge.
In 2020, when called upon to take in patients from
other hospitals when they had to receive COVID-19
patients, our team was able to transform two wards
for those patients quickly and efficiently. Our people
also worked hard and creatively to ensure that our
patients’ needs continue to be met even through
lockdowns, safe physical distancing, and movement
restriction measures. Our dialysis patients were able
to continue their treatments, albeit with measures
to reduce close contact. Our people, both staff
and volunteers, also deployed teleconsultations
and virtual meetings to ensure continuity of care
for patients.
While COVID-19 was a considerable shock to the
system, the ability to meet the evolving challenges
is testament to the quality of our people. Their
compassion, can-do attitude, and team spirit are an
example to us all.

We are also cognisant of the importance of nurturing
interconnections with our stakeholders and our
volunteers. Their involvement continues to be a
vital complement to the work we do. We are grateful
that, despite the ongoing challenges in 2020, over
a hundred new volunteers joined our fold. The
outpouring of gifts from the community, from goodies
to sanitisers and even food, has also been a muchappreciated source of encouragement to our staff.

Coming together
We had gone through much in together in the past
year, but we did not cave in, and in fact, were able to
use our training, guided by our values, to continue
to serve the wellbeing of our patients and their
caregivers. Moving forward, we remain committed to
our mission to rehabilitate and heal with commitment
and professionalism, and to nurture the professional
growth of our people.
I thank our Board members, staff, donors, volunteers
and community partners, for their steadfast support.

Caring together
While there is no doubt that our people responded
commendably to the demands placed on them
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we should also
acknowledge that they have been placed under
great stress. They have had to handle a higher
workload as well as worries over COVID-19
exposure. The pandemic has also exacerbated the
manpower crunch faced by the healthcare sector.
These are areas of concern for us, and the Board
and management team continue to look at ways to
ensure that our people are supported, and that our
recruitment efforts continue to be robust.

6
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CEO’S MESSAGE
Nimble and adaptable

Transformative and future-focused

COVID-19 brought out the best in ourselves. We had
no choice but to bring our knowledge and training to
bear, to ensure that our patients and their caregivers
were provided with appropriate support and in a
safe manner.

Even as we responded to COVID-19 and its impact, we
have continued to focus on longer term healthcare
trends, needs and developments, expressed through
our transformative 2020–2025 Strategic Plan. One of
the highlights of this plan is the development of two
Centres of Excellence, one focused on Renal Care
and the other on Stroke Management, both areas of
growing need in Singapore.

A case in point is when our team rallied to adapt
two wards within a short time when we were asked
to take in chronic sick patients from Bright Vision
Hospital, with it being redesignated for COVID-19
patients. For their efforts, the team was recognised
at the Singapore Health Quality Service Awards 2021
with a Best Team (Merit) award.
Another example is our allied health team, including
our care and counselling staff, who received more
than 1,900 compliments in the course of ensuring
that their patients were well taken care of during the
pandemic. Volunteer programmes also resumed in
June 2020, with activities such as karaoke, exercise
and percussion conducted virtually to keep our
patients engaged with the community. In September
2020, our home healthcare team introduced a
teleconsultation service, giving our patients the
opportunity to consult with our clinicians, nurses and
therapists, ensuring uninterrupted care.
We also digitalised visitor management, working
collaboratively with Singapore Management
University to implement a new triage system tailored
to the needs of the pandemic. We shared the system
with the other community hospitals and are pleased
to know that Ren Ci Hospital implemented it for
their community hospital and nursing homes. The
system significantly reduced waiting time for visitors,
ensuring a safer experience.

Our strategic plan also recognises that appropriate
care in the home and community is critical to health
outcomes when patients leave the hospital. Ensuring
that patients can transition seamlessly from hospital
to home and community will require working closely
with our partners within the Thye Hua Kwan (THK)
group and externally such as community service
providers to integrate and coordinate the provision of
different support services.

The year 2020 was a pivotal one.
Even as COVID-19 loomed large, we
launched a new five-year strategic plan
designed to take us into the future.

Mr Ardi S. Hardjoe
CEO
ANG MO KIO-THYE HUA KWAN HOSPITAL

Committed and care-oriented
Throughout the response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
our people demonstrated resilience, humanity and
care amid challenging circumstances, often going
above and beyond for our patients. They have
also been instrumental in the development of our
strategic plan, contributing not just their ideas but
also their experience, and above all, a heart for the
people they serve.
In the year that was, we saw 87 staff receive their
long service awards including five who have served
25 years. Our staff also received numerous welldeserved accolades, including at the Singapore
Health Quality Service Awards 2021, where 107 staff
were recognised for their contributions.
Looking ahead, we recommit ourselves to
marshalling the requisite talents and resources
to ensure that we are well-positioned to serve our
patients, as well as their caregivers, and provide them
with what they need on their healthcare journey.

8
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Lee Kim Siang

Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin

Managing Director (Honorary)
& Chairman
Appointed on 23/07/2005

Board Member
Appointed on 10/11/2011

BBM (L), BBM, PBM

Current Occupation:
Chairman
Thye Hua Kwan Moral Society

Er Ong Ser Huan
Board Member
Appointed on 26/08/2006
Current Occupation:
Chairman
Enkon International Consulting
Engineers Pte Ltd

Mr John Teo Woon Keng

BBM, PBM

Board Member
Appointed on 13/09/2016
Current Occupation:
Executive Director
Asia Pacific Lottery
Association Limited
(Incorporated in Singapore)
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BBM, PBM

Hon. Treasurer
Tenure : 06/04/2015 to 01/04/2019
Current Occupation:
Executive Chairman
Indo-Trans Logistics Corporation

Prof Philip Choo Wee Jin
BBM, PPA(E), PPA(P), PBS
Board Member
Appointed on 18/08/2015
Current Occupation:
Group Chief Executive Officer
National Healthcare Group

Prof Low Cheng Hock

MBBS, FRACS, FRCS, MMed,
PMB, BBM, PPA(P),
Board Member
Appointed on 10/07/2017
Current Occupation:
Emeritus Consultant
Tan Tock Seng Hospital
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Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker

Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming

Mr Richard Tan Cheong Su

Mr Samuel Ang Seong Kang

Board Member
Appointed on 31/07/2008

Board Member
Appointed on 05/06/2018

Board Member
Appointed on 28/09/2018

Board Member
Appointed on 01/06/2019

Hon. Treasurer
Appointed on 02/04/2019

Current Occupation:
Group Chairman
Eu Yan Sang International Limited

Current Occupation:
Vice President, Operations,
Serviced Suites
Pan Pacific Hotels Group

Current Occupation:
Chairman
Neubits Pte Ltd

Mr Koh Juay Meng

Prof Alex Siow Yuen Khong

Current Occupation:
Cardiologist
Lifeline Heart Centre

Dr Tan Tiong Har
Board Member
Appointed on 16/06/2016
Current Occupation:
Physician

Mr Ching Chiat Kwong
Board Member
Appointed on 05/06/2018
Current Occupation:
Executive Chairman and CEO
Oxley Holdings Limited

PBM

Board Member
Appointed on 01/06/2019

Board Member
Appointed on 01/06/2020

Current Occupation:
President
RSVP Singapore

Current Occupation:
Professor
School of Computing, National
University of Singapore (NUS)

Er Chang Meng Teng

Mr Ardi Saban Hardjoe

P, BBM, BBM (L), PPA(P), PBM
Vice Chairman
Appointed on 25/03/2002
(Retired on 01/06/2019)

Board Member
Appointed on 10/05/2019
(Resigned on 05/02/2020)
Current Occupation:
Chief Executive Officer
Thye Hua Kwan Nursing Home &
Thye Hua Kwan Hospital
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ADVISOR AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

MANAGEMENT TEAM

ADVISOR
Dr Jocelyn Koh

Mr Shekhar Sinha

Dr Tiew Lay Hwa

20 years of experience
in management and
administration in healthcare
and social welfare industries

Appointed on 02/07/2018
18 years of experience in
medical services

Appointed on 27/01/2010

Appointed on 19/11/2018

30 years of experience
in Allied Health and is a
certified speech therapist

40 years of experience in
nursing services

Mr Richard Quah

Ms Sharon Woo

Mr Terence Mok

Ms Zeng Meilian

Mr Ardi Saban Hardjoe
Chief Executive Officer

Appointed on 05/02/2020

Dr Koh Poh Koon

Director
Medical Services

Director
Allied Health

Director
Nursing Services

Senior Minister of State
Ministry of Health & Ministry of Manpower
MP for Tampines GRC

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Appointed on 01/04/2019

Director
Human Resource

Appointed on 23/07/2018

Assistant Director
Management Info Systems
Appointed on 01/02/2018

Appointed on 01/09/2020

30 years of experience in
crisis management and
facilities management

20 years of experience in
Human Resource

18 years of experience in
healthcare IT

20 years of experience in
healthcare, finance and audit

Director
Corporate Affairs

Prof Lim Pin
DUBC
Chairman

12
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Finance

Mr Herman Hochstadt
PPA(E), PPA(G), BBM
Member
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Name

Current
Appointment

Occupation

Past Appointment

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital (the Hospital), was incorporated in Singapore on 22 February 2002 under
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (Registration Number: 200201385C).

Mr Lee Kim Siang

Chairman

Chairman, Thye Hua Kwan
Moral Society

Chairman
(wef 23 Jul 2005)

The Hospital is also a Charity registered under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 (Charity Registration Number:
01589), and an approved institution of a Public Character under the Singapore Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.

Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker

Hon. Treasurer

Cardiologist

Board Member
(wef 2 Apr 2019)

The Hospital has its principal place of registered office at 1 North Bridge Road, #03-33, High Street Centre,
Singapore 179094.

Er Ong Ser Huan

Board Member

Chariman, Enkon
International Consulting
Engineers Ptd Ltd

Board Member
(wef 26 Aug 2006)

Dr Tan Tiong Har

Board Member

Physician

Board Member
(wef 16 Jun 2016)

Board Member

Executive Chairman,
Indo-Trans Logistics
Corporation

Board Member
(wef 10 November 2011)
Honorary Treasurer
(6 Apr 2015 - 1 Apr 2019)
Board Member
(wef 13 Sep 2016)

Independent Auditor: KPMG LLP
Bankers: Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation, Development Bank of Singapore, United Overseas Bank,
Malayan Banking Berhad, Standard Chartered, BNP Paribas Singapore (Wealth Management), Deutsche Bank
AG, FilialenSingapur

Mr Zulkifli bin Baharudin

Investment Advisers: Bank of Singapore, BNP Paribas Singapore (Wealth Management, United Overseas Bank
Assets Management
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board’s role is to provide overall leadership for the strategic direction of the Hospital’s operations.

Mr John Teo Woon Keng

Board Member

In line with corporate governance, the Hospital has renewed the Board membership in this financial year. We have
appointed 1 new Board member. All Board members of the Hospital have accepted their roles without remuneration
and are committed to serve the Hospital and to bring a better level of healthcare services to our patients and the
community.

Executive Director &
Company Secretary Asia
Pacific Lottery Association
Limited (Incorporated in
Singapore)

Prof Philip Choo Wee Jin

Board Member

Board Member
(wef 18 Aug 2015)

Under the guidance of our Chairman and the Board members, the Hospital has undergone more stringent reviews
of processes that are good Corporate Governance. In performing its duties, the Board of Directors have maintained
effective working relationships with the Hospital’s Management.

Group Chief Executive
Officer, National Healthcare
Group

Prof Low Cheng Hock

Board Member

Emeritus Consultant,
Tan Tock Seng Hospital

Board Member
(wef 10 Jul 2017)

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS FY2020/2021

Mr Ching Chiat Kwong

Board Member

Executive Chairman & CEO,
Oxley Holdings Limited

Board Member
(wef 5 Jun 2018)

Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming

Board Member

Group Chairman, Eu Yan
Sang International Limited

Board Member
(wef 5 Jun 2018)

Mr Richard Tan Cheong Su

Board Member

Vice President, Operations,
Serviced Suites, Pan
Pacific Hotels Group

Board Member
(wef 28 Sep 2018)

Mr Samuel Ang Seong Kang

Board Member

Chairman, Neubits Pte Ltd

Board Member
(wef 1 Jun 2019)

Mr Koh Juay Meng

Board Member

President, RSVP Singapore

Board Member
(wef 1 Jun 2019)

Prof Alex Siow Yuen Khong

Board Member

Professor, School of
Computing, National
University of Singapore

Board Member
(wef 1 Jun 2020)

Meeting
Attendance
Chair of the
Board

Meeting
Attendance
Member of the
Board

Year of First
Appointment

4/4

-

2002

19

Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker

-

4/4

2008

13

Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin

-

2/4

2011

10

Er Ong Ser Huan

-

3/4

2006

15

Mr John Teo Woon Keng

-

4/4

2016

5

Name of Director
Mr Lee Kim Siang

Years
Served1

Remarks

Mr Richard Tan Cheong Su

-

3/4

2018

3

Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming

-

3/4

2018

3

Dr Tan Tiong Har

-

3/4

2016

5

Prof Low Cheng Hock

-

3/4

2017

4

The Board has established 11 Sub-Committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. They are:

Prof Philip Choo Wee Jin

-

3/4

2015

6

• Executive Committee

• Medifund Committee

Mr Samuel Ang Seong Kang

-

4/4

2019

2

• Audit Committee

• Nomination Committee

Mr Koh Juay Meng

-

3/4

2019

2

• Establishment and Remuneration Committee

• Programmes Committee

• Finance Committee

• Tender Committee

Mr Ching Chiat Kwong

-

3/4

2018

3

• Investment Committee

• Technology Committee

Prof Alex Siow Yuen Khong

-

4/4

2020

10 months

• Medical Advisory Board

STANDING BOARD COMMITTEES

4 Board Members served more than 10 years, their vast experiences and advice have helped AMK-THKH operate smoothly and wisely.

14

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

15

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCE COMMITTEE

TENDER COMMITTEE

Chairman

Chairman

Chairman

Mr Lee Kim Siang

Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin

Mr Koh Juay Meng

Hon. Treasurer

Members

Members

Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker

Mr Lee Kim Siang
Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker
Mr John Teo Woon Keng

Dr Tan Tiong Har
Mr Richard Tan Cheong Su

Board Member
Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin
Er Ong Ser Huan
Prof Philip Choo Wee Jin
Dr Tan Tiong Har
Mr John Teo Woon Keng
Prof Low Cheng Hock
Mr Ching Chiat Kwong
Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming
Mr Richard Tan Cheong Su
Mr Samuel Ang Seong Kang
Mr Koh Juay Meng
Prof Alex Siow Yuen Khong

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Chairman
Mr Philip E.S. Tan

Members
Mr Lee Kim Siang
Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin
Mr John Teo Woon Keng

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr Lee Kim Siang

Members
Mr Zulkifli Bin Baharudin
Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker
Er Ong Ser Huan

Chairman
Er Ong Ser Huan

Members
Dr Tan Tiong Har
Mr Hwang Koh Chee

ESTABLISHMENT AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr Jayaram Lingamanaicker

Members
Mr Lee Kim Siang
Prof Philip Choo Wee Jin
Dr Tan Tiong Har

Chairman
Mr John Teo Woon Keng

Members
Er Ong Ser Huan
Dr Tan Tiong Har

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Chairman

The duties of the EC shall be to:
• Provide overall strategic direction to the Hospital’s management team.
• Reviews and approves new services and programs propose by the Hospital’s management.

TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE

• Reviews and approves business or operational proposals recommended by the Hospital’s management
team.

Prof Alex Siow Yuen Khong

• Recommend, recruit and review the appointment of members for the various Sub-Committees / Board
of the Hospital.

Members

• Oversee the business and affairs of the Hospital and monitors the performance of the Management
against pre-agreed targets.

Mr Koh Juay Meng
Mr Samuel Ang Seong Kang

• Assumes full responsibility for the corporate governance framework of the Hospital and provides
oversight in the proper conduct of the Hospital’s business.
• Gives advice and directions on any major fund-raising activities organized by the Hospital.

MEDIFUND COMMITTEE
Chairman

• Other duties as assigned by the Board of Directors.
2)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee (“AC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The AC will review the financial reporting process, the system of internal control, management of financial
risks and the audit process. In performing its duties, the AC will maintain effective working relationships
with the Board of Directors, Management and the internal and external auditors. To perform his or her role
effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of
committee membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.

3)

Establishment and Remuneration Committee
The Establishment and Remuneration Committee (“ERC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following
oversight responsibilities. The ERC will review the human resource policies, Hospital’s establishment
headcount and all remunerations matters. In performing its duties, the ERC will maintain effective
working relationships with the Board of Directors and Management. To perform his or her role effectively,
each committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of committee
membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.

Members
Mr M. N. Swami
Mr Chan Chee Keong
Mr George Tan Chong Hai
Dr Abdul Razakjr Omar

MEDICAL ADVISORY BOARD
Chairman
A/Prof Chin Jing Jih

Vice-Chairman
Prof Pang Weng Sun

The duties of the ERC shall be to:
• Review and approve the Hospital’s human and resource policies.
• Review and approve the Hospital’s Establishment headcount.

Members

• Review and approve the Hospital’s staff appraisal system.

Dr Lee Kheng Hin
Prof Tay Boon Keng
A/Prof Mark Chan
A/Prof Goh Lee Gan
Prof Low Cheng Hock
Prof Ng Han Seong

• Review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the job descriptions of the Hospital’s key
staff, for example, the CEO.
• Review and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the terms of employment and total
remuneration package of the Hospital’s key staff, for example, the CEO.
• Review the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the staff remuneration policy.

Mr Lee Kim Siang

• Review and approve the Hospital’s staff service increments, annual wage supplement and performance
bonuses.

Members

• Review and make recommendations to the Chairman of the Board of Directors on any remuneration payable
to any Board members. No individuals shall be involved in any decisions as to their own remunerations.

Er Ong Ser Huan
Prof Philip Choo

16

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (“EC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The EC provides overall strategic direction to the Hospital’s Management team. In performing its duties,
the EC will maintain effective working relationships with the Board of Directors and Management.
To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed
responsibilities of committee membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.

Dr S. Vasoo

PROGRAMMES COMMITTEE
Chairman

1)

Chairman

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman

The duties of each of the Sub-Committees are as follows:

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021
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4)

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee (“FC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The FC shall review and approve significant financial planning, management and financial reporting
matters of the Hospital. In performing its duties, the FC will maintain effective working relationships with
the Board of Directors and Management. To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member
will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of committee membership as well as the
Hospital’s business, operations and risks.

7)

The Medifund Committee (“MC”) will assist the Board to consider and approve Medifund applications from
eligible patients in the Day Care Rehabilitation Centre, and to administer payments out of hospital’s
account. The MC will review the applications and ensure that applicants fulfil the eligibility criteria
prescribed under guidelines issued by the Ministry of Health.
8)

• Review and approve the Hospital’s annual capital and operating budgets.
• Review and approve the Hospital’s adhoc budgets on major projects.
• Review and approve any fee revision by the Hospital.

The duties of the NC shall be to:

• Review and approve any major fund-raising activities organised by the Hospital.

• Review and approve the Hospital’s Board Structure and Sub-Committees.

• Review the Hospital’s financial statements regularly.

• Recruit and make recommendations on new members of the Board and its Sub-Committees.

• Review and approve the Hospital’s financial policies.

• Review and make recommendations on term limits of members of the Board and its Sub-Committees.

• Review and make recommendations on financial priorities.

5)

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee (“IC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The IC shall review and approve significant investments of the Hospital. In performing its duties, the IC will
maintain effective working relationships with the Board of Directors and Management. To perform his
or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed
responsibilities of committee membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.
The duties of the IC shall be to:
• Oversee all investment management of the Hospital.
• Review and approve the Hospital’s investment policies.
• Engage the services of registered investment managers / independent investment consulting firm
who possess the necessary specialised research facilities and skill to meet the investment objectives
and guidelines of the invested funds.
• Review and evaluate investment managers’ / investing consultant firm’s performance, fees and
services against competitive providers
• Oversee and ensure that the investment managers / investment consulting firm adhere to any policies
adopted by the Hospital.
• Review and approve investment assets in accordance with agreed upon guidelines and restrictions
• Review and evaluate investment results

6)

Medical Advisory Board
The Medical Advisory Board (“MAB”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight
responsibilities with regard to clinical matters. In performing its duties, the MAB will maintain effective
working relationships with the Board of Directors and Management. To perform his or her role effectively,
each MAB member will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of MAB membership as
well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.
The duties of the MAB shall be to:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee (“NC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following responsibilities. The NC
shall review and approve the Board structure and Sub-Committees of the Hospital. In performing its duties,
the NC will maintain effective working relationships with the Board of Directors and Management.
To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed
responsibilities of committee membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.

The duties of the FC shall be to:

• Review and make recommendations on the Hospital’s financial reporting to ensure compliance with
statutory regulations and guidelines.

Medifund Committee

• Review and make recommendations on terms of reference of members of the Board and its Sub-Committees.
9)

Programmes Committee
The Programmes Committee (“PC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The Committee shall review and approve new programmes and services of the Hospital. In performing
its duties, the Committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Board of Directors and
Management. To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an understanding
of the detailed responsibilities of committee membership as well as the Hospital’s business, operations
and risks.
The duties of the PC shall be to:
• Review and approve the Hospital’s new programmes and services
• Provide advisory role to the Hospital with regard to the running of these programmes and services
• Review reports and updates of these programmes and services

10) Tender Committee
The Tender Committee (“TC”) will assist the Board in fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities.
The TC will take part and give advice to the Hospital on the tendering and awarding of contracts for
procurement of services and supplies. In performing its duties, the TC will maintain effective working
relationships with the Board of Directors and Management. To perform his or her role effectively, each
committee member will obtain an understanding of the detailed responsibilities of committee membership
as well as the Hospital’s business, operations and risks.
The duties of the TC shall be to:
• Review and approve the Hospital’s procurement policies and procedures to ensure that Hospital’s
interests are protected.
• Oversee to ensure compliance with the Hospital’s procurement policies and procedures.
• Review and approve the awarding of contracts for procurement of services and supplies with values of
$70,000 or more.
• Give advice on the terms and specifications of contracts to protect the Hospital’s interest.

• Make recommendations on Medical and Professional matters and policies to the Board of Directors.
• Advise the Board on the development of medical services to the Hospital.
• Monitor and evaluate medical standards to ensure quality in patient care using guidelines, protocols and
QA programmes.
• Advise the Board on Ethical Issues in relation to the Hospital’s clinical policies and patient care services.
• Review accreditation guidelines and make decisions on accreditation issues.
18
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11)

Technology Committee

The Technology Committee (“TEC”) is a sub-committee of the Board and will assist the Board in
fulfilling the following oversight responsibilities. The Committee will review and approve IT
strategies, IT projects and cyber security strategies of the Hospital. In performing its duties, the
Committee will maintain effective working relationships with the Board of Directors and
Management. To perform his or her role effectively, each committee member will obtain an
understanding of the detailed responsibilities of committee membership as well as the Hospital’s
business, operations and risks.

2.

Scope of Whistle-Blowing Policy
2.1

2.2 These will include but are not limited to:
a. Fraud or suspected fraud, theft and dishonest acts
b. Profiteering as a result of insider knowledge
c. Accepting or giving bribes
d. Intimidation, discrimination or harassment of staff and other persons during the course of work

The duties of the TEC shall be:

e. Misappropriation of funds

• Make recommendations to the Board with respect to major technology related projects and IT
investments that require the Board’s approval.
• Review, evaluate and make recommendations to the Board as to scope, direction, quality,
investment levels and execution of the Hospital’s technology strategies.

f. Disclosure of confidential information to outside parties
g. Conflict of interest in business dealings with external parties
3.

• Monitor the quality and effectiveness of the Hospital’s technology security, and periodically
review, appraise and discuss with management the quality and effectiveness of the Hospital’s
information technology security, data privacy and disaster recovery capabilities.
• Assess and advise the Hospital’s senior management team with respect to existing trends in
information technology and new technologies, applications and systems that relate to or affect
the Hospital’s technology strategy or programmes.
• Appraise and review the financial, strategic and operational benefits of the proposed major
technology related projects, including impact on the Hospital’s performance, growth and
competitive position.
• Report to the Board on decisions taken and make recommendations to the Board for its approval
when this is deemed necessary.
4.
GOVERNANCE EVALUATION

The Hospital carried out an online governance evaluation on the extent of its compliance with the essential guidelines
in the Code of Governance for Charities and IPCs (“the Code”) via the charity portal in August 2020.
The Corporate Governance Committee is pleased to report that the Hospital and Board have complied with
the guidelines of the Code.
The level of compliance by the Hospital can be viewed at www.charities.gov.sg

5.

1.
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Introduction
1.1

This Policy addresses the commitment of Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd (“the
Hospital”) to integrity and ethical behaviour by helping to foster and maintain an environment
where employees can act appropriately, without fear of retaliation.

1.2

To maintain these standards, the Hospital encourages its employees who have concerns about
suspected serious misconduct or any breach or suspected breach of laws or regulations that
may adversely impact the Hospital, to come forward and express these concerns without fear
of punishment or unfair treatment.
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Channel and Structure for Whistle Blowing
3.1

Only disclosed reporting (i.e. disclosure where the whistle-blower identifies himself / herself)
will be handled and investigated.

3.2

The channels for reporting such concerns or matters shall be to the Audit Committee Chairman
or members.

3.3

Any reports to the Audit Committee should be in writing addressed to the Chairman - Audit
Committee, in a sealed envelope via the Head Finance Officer or Chief Executive Officer.

3.4

The Audit Committee may appoint an independent Committee or personnel to investigate or
assist in reviewing the reported case.

3.5

Where the matter reported is proven to be fraud, misappropriation of funds or bribery, the Audit
Committee shall report to the Board of Directors.

Confidentiality of Whistle-blower & Whistle-blowee Identity
4.1

The whistle-blower’s identity will be kept confidential unless required by the court or other
regulatory authorities to disclose the identity.

4.2

The identity of the whistle-blowee will be kept confidential until there is sufficient evidence to
support that it is a genuine case.

Protection for Whistle-blower
5.1

The Board also conducts an annual self-evaluation to assess its performance and effectiveness.
WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

Any activity or conduct or omission by an employee or officer of Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd

6.

The Hospital will not tolerate victimisation of the whistle-blower. Disciplinary action will be
taken against those who victimise the whistle-blower.

Protection for the Hospital & Whistle-blower
6.1

Information pertaining to the whistle-blowing case will be kept confidential and restricted to
the group of designated officers in charge of the investigation. This is to prevent unnecessary
leakage of information which could result in potential legal suits if there is insufficient
evidence to support the case.

6.2

The Hospital shall ensure that all whistle-blowees will not be convicted of any wrongdoing
or unduly penalised until the case facts are proven to be genuine and sufficient evidence are in
place to support the case.

6.3

Reporting with malicious intent shall not be tolerated.
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POLICY ON CONFLICT OF INTEREST
OBJECTIVES

ANNEX B
CONFLICT OF INTEREST SITUATIONS
1.

1. To set out the policy and administrative procedures for the Board members, staff and volunteers to
undertake and disclose as part of the governance practices.

Where the Board/committee members, staff or volunteers have a personal interest in the business
transactions or contracts that the Hospital may enter into, the interested party is required to declare
such interest as soon as possible followed by abstention from discussion and decision-making on the
matter (including voting on the transaction or contract). All such discussion and evaluation should be made
by the remaining committee members or relevant approving authority in arriving at the final decision. Such
transactions or contracts should always by recorded and filed.

2. To ensure any Board members, staff and volunteers serving Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital (the
Hospital) will act in the best interest of the hospital instead of any vested or personal interest or interest of
the third parties.
3. To prevent conflict of interest and to safeguard the Board/Hospital’s integrity and accountability.
SCOPE

2.

Conflicts of interest arise whenever the personal or professional interests of Board members, staff or volunteers
interfere with the performance of their official duties or with their decision-making on matters related to the
Company. Conflict of interest situations include those actual, potential or perceived.

3.

1

The Conflict of Interest policy should be read and understood by all Board members, staff and/or volunteers
upon the commencement of their term of office, employment, and/or volunteer service. Declarations of
interests are required to be submitted upon assuming office, commencement of work or commencement of
volunteer service. Any subsequent changes in personal or professional interests are to be declared.

2

As and when actual conflicts occur, the Board member, staff and/or volunteer shall make a declaration of
his/her interest for that specific instance in writing and excuse himself/ herself from decision making.

3

Transactions with parties with whom a conflicting interest exists may be permitted only if all of the
following are observed:
(i)

The conflicting interest is to be fully disclosed;

(ii)

The person with the conflict of interest is to abstain from the discussion, voting and approval of such a
transaction;

4.

4

22

The Board of Directors (excluding Board members with conflicts of interest) shall determine whether a
conflict exists and in the case of an existing conflict, whether the contemplated transaction may be
authorised as just, fair and reasonable to the Company. The decision of the remaining Board members on
these matters shall rest in their sole discretion, and their concern must be the welfare of the Company and
the advancement of its purpose.

5

Any disclosure of interest made by Board members, staff or volunteers where they may be involved in
potentially conflicting situations, must be recorded, filed and updated appropriately by all specified parties.

6

As Board members hold the ultimate responsibility and are always accountable to the public, they should
uphold and maintain a standard of conduct such as the avoidance of conflict of interest to fulfil public trust
responsibilities. Therefore, Board members must lead by example with an attitude and act of personal
integrity.
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Recruitment of staff with close relationship
Recruitment of staff with close relationship (i.e. those who are more than just mere acquaintances)
with current Board/ committee members, staff or volunteers should go through the established human
resource procedures for recruitment. The Board member, staff or volunteer should make a declaration of
such relationships and should refrain from influencing any decision on the recruitment.

5.

Remuneration
Board members and volunteers should serve without remuneration for their voluntary service to the
Hospital so as to maintain the integrity of serving as a matter of public trust and community good instead
of personal gain. However, the Hospital may reimburse Board members or volunteers for out-of-pocket
expenses directly related to the service.

6.

Paid staff on Board of Directors
Paid staff, including the executive head and senior staff employed by the Hospital, should not serve as a
member of the Board as it can pose issues of conflict of interest and role conflicts, and may raise doubts
relating to the integrity of the Board decisions. The executive head and senior staff can attend Board
meetings, ex-officio, to provide information and facilitate necessary discussion but should not take part in
the decision-making of the Board.

(iii) Competitive bids or comparable valuations are to be obtained; and
(iv) The Board of Directors has determined that the transaction is in the best interest of the Company
although there may be a conflict of interest.

Joint ventures
The Board’s approval should be sought before the Hospital enters into any joint venture with external
parties. Where Board/committee members, staff or volunteers have an interest in such ventures, there
should be a declaration of such interest and if necessary, followed by abstention from discussion and
decision-making on the matter.

Conflict of interest situations may include but are not limited to those stipulated in Annex B.
Policy and procedures

Vested interest in other organisations that have dealings/relationship with the Hospital
Where Board/committee members, staff or volunteers who have a vested interest in other organisations
that have dealings/ relationship with the Hospital, and when matters involving the interests of both the
Hospital and the other organisation are discussed, there should be a policy requiring a declaration of such
interest and if necessary, followed by abstention from discussion and decision-making on such matters.

This policy shall apply to the Board members, staff and volunteers being employed by the Hospital.
DEFINITION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Contract with vendors

7.

Major donors / representatives from major donor companies being on the Board of Directors.
When a major donor / representative from a major donor company is also a Board member, potentially
conflicting situations such as the following may arise:
a)

Conflict of loyalty
The Board member may not have the overall best interests of the Hospital due to his/her vested
interests/ priorities. This may influence decisions relating to allocation of resources or setting the
Hospital’s directions. There may be particular programme areas the Board member is vested in and is
biased towards.

b)

Use of information to influence donor decision
Information accessible to the Board members may be used to influence donors’ decision on
allocations or to influence the corporation they represent. This may result in staff not highlighting
certain issues for fear that the donation may be affected. Issues of transparency and disclosure can arise.
Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021
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c)

Pressure to release additional information to donor
The Board member may expect additional information from staff on how donations were used and the
details of beneficiaries, etc.

d)

Personal benefit/gain/recognition
The Board member may expect greater recognition for the financial support given than is usually the
case. Staff may feel beholden to this Board member in case the donor relationship is threatened.

8.

Others
a)

A Board member’s organisation receives grant funding from the Hospital he/she is serving.

b)

Prohibition on gifts, entertainment and other favours from any persons or entities which do or seek
business with the Hospital.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

POLICY ON VOLUNTEER MANAGEMENT
The volunteer management has established protocols for volunteering at AMK-THKH which is guided by SOPs for
Recruitment, Selection, Orientation, Training as well as Data Management.
Application to volunteer opportunities will be channelled to the Volunteer Management Team who will conduct the
selection process. Suitable volunteers will be invited for either in-person or phone interview before being deployed
to the suitable programmes.

INCOME

S$78,054,602

Recruitment
The Hospital recruits volunteers through Outreach programmes such as networking sessions; brochures/forms;
AMK-THKH website; publishing volunteering opportunities at NCSS and NVPC websites; reaching out to schools
and companies for VIA and CSR projects; social media such as Instagram and Facebook.

Income Resources from
Charitable Activities

49.52%

Government
Subvention Income

45.72%

Voluntary
Income

2.38%

Investment
Income

2.38%

Staff
Costs

65.96%

Resources Expanded
on Charitable Activities

32.83%

Cost of
Generating Funds

0.91%

Finance costs from
Lease Liabilities

0.30%

Interview
The Volunteer Management Team will interview all prospective volunteers to ascertain their skills, interests and
schedule. An overview of the hospital’s programmes, services, and volunteer opportunities will also be provided
to the candidates. Successful volunteers may be required to attend orientation or training sessions where
appropriate. If the volunteer desires a change in assignment, they may contact the Volunteer Management Team.
Orientation and Training
A comprehensive orientation programme will be conducted to prepare volunteers on the basic skills, knowledge
and the right mindset.
Data Maintenance
Volunteers’ data will be recorded, compiled, updated by the volunteer and kept for 5 years. The Hospital shall
observe the strictest confidentiality in maintaining the database of volunteers in accordance with the Personal
Data Protection Act of Singapore unless the volunteer has provided consent for collection, use or disclosure.

EXPENDITURE

S$51,346,154

Policy and guidelines for Volunteers
Volunteers shall contribute without expectation of financial or other form of remuneration from the hospital and
agree to follow all relevant protocols. They may be reimbursed for pre-approved expenses established by the
respective departments. Volunteers are to be covered by insurance in accordance with the guidelines of the Hospital.
Policy/Internal Control
Documented procedures are in place for financial matters in key areas including procurement procedures and
controls, receipting, payment procedures and controls, and a system for the delegation of authority and limits
of approval.

24
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The Reserve ratio is 2.16 times based on audited operating expenditure.
Reserves have been set aside to provide financial stability and means for development of the Hospital’s principal activity.
The Hospital targets to maintain its reserves minimally equivalent to 3 years of its budgeted expenses.
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OUR PATIENTS
AVERAGE

83.58%

Facilitating
Recovery
With Steady
Support
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Bed Occupancy Rate (BOR)

87.5%
82.1%

86.4%
83.9% 84.9%

APR MAY JUN

87.6%
84.8% 83.8%
81.5% 80.1%
81.2%
79.1%

JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
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TOTAL

SOURCE OF REFERRALS

2,647
Changi
General
Hospital

Tan Tock
Seng
Hospital

1,268
Patients

Khoo
Teck Puat
Hospital

PATIENTS

Other
Hospitals

107

Patients

325

230

Patients

Patients

420

222

Patients

75

Patients

Patients

Singapore
General
Hospital
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National
University
Hospital

Sengkang
General
Hospital
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TOP 10 MEDICAL CONDITIONS
Orthopaedic

TOTAL ADMISSIONS
2,647

FY 2020/21

Heart Disease

(including fractures and
joint replacements)

Patients

3,154

FY 2019/20

Patients

3,267

FY 2018/19

Infection
(Any source)

Peripheral Vascular
Disease

Patients

PATIENT GENDER

PATIENT AGE

MALE

Age 60 & Above

1,353

2,292

FEMALE

Age 18-59

1,294

355

TOTAL INPATIENT DAYS
Stroke and
Ischaemic

Other nonstroke
neurological
disease

98,998 Days

FY 2020/21

108,623 Days

FY 2019/20

115,625 Days

FY 2018/19

DISCHARGE DESTINATIONS
Falls

1,638

Home

Total Knee
Replacement

Patients

786 Patients

Public Hospital
Private Hospitals
Other Intermediate & LongTerm Care (ILTC) Institutions
Others

6 Patients
197 Patients
2 Patients

PATIENT WELFARE FUND
Intracranial
Bleed

Cancer
Number of PWF
assistance case
Total amount of
PWF utilized

496
$236,068.06

Support our patients here: https://www.giving.sg/ang-mo-kio-thye-hua-kwan-hospital/supportneedypatientsandfamilies
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COMPLIMENTS
Dear Sir/Madam, I am writing on behalf of the family of Mdm Lim (Bed 3136, discharged
on 5 February). We would like to express our utmost gratitude and appreciation for the
dedicated, energetic, and wonderful team of doctor, therapists, therapy assistants and
nurses who took great care of my grandmother during her two months stay at AMK THK.
Witnessing her condition fluctuating during her stay at TTSH, we were mentally prepared
that she might be bedridden, and she could no longer do and eat the things she once liked.
A big thank you to the team for her tremendous improvement over the two months stay at
AMK THK. She can sit safely, stand up, eat via mouth instead of NGT.
When she was finally approved for discharge one week before CNY, she surprised us even

I would like to express my gratitude to the social work specialist Ms Stephanie Loo for her
excellent work and care to my mother, Mdm Kang. Ms Stephanie will never refuse to help,
she will explain everything e.g. procedures in getting financial aid, advise and support with
a kind word. She is an attentive, sensitive, responsive person. She conscientiously fulfills
her duties, assignments, carry out all the planned activities with patients and caregivers
whenever possible. In short, she helped with everything she could, and with deeds and support,
sometimes in areas that were beyond her duties. It is indeed the blessing of Thye Hua Kwan
Hospital to have Ms Stephanie as part of the Great team.

- Family of Mdm Kang

more. During the week when she is back home, she even fried spring onions, prepared
and handmade wu xiang with our help. She even played mahjong and card games with
her grandchildren. On top of that, she also requested for a lot of different food for her daily
meal which she usually does not. She even lao yu sheng and wanted to eat the crackers
during one of her grand daughter’s 21st birthday celebrations. These are things we didn’t
expect her to be able to do again, if it wasn’t for the dedicated team that has helped in
her recovery.
We would like to say a big thank you to Dr Ethan, PT Xin Ying, OT Jia Yi, ST Jorain, the therapy
assistants, the nurses and lastly the team who has helped in her recovery. Thank you for
the dedication, effort, and the energy. She hates staying in hospital, but the team who took
care of her made her stay more enjoyable as I have personally witnessed her “playful” side
with the nurses and therapy assistants in their interactions. On behalf of the family, thank

Thank you for taking such great care of my
dad, Mr Nair, bed 1656. You have made his stay
comfortable and have made him feel so much
better. Words are not enough to express our
sincere thanks. My family and I will always be
grateful for the effort you have put in. Take care
and stay safe! Much thanks.

- Mr Nair & family

you very much and wishing everyone a Happy Chinese New Year.

- Eileen Chew, grand daughter of Mdm Lim
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OUR SERVICES AND FACILITIES
CORE SERVICES
Ventilatory Support Care
Support and management of patients with tracheostomy and home ventilators as well
as non-invasive ventilation machines such as Bilevel Positive Pressure (BIPAP) and
Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP).

Wound Care
We provide a wide spectrum of wound care, ranging from acute post-surgical wounds
to chronic vascular wounds. Certified in wound care, our nurses are trained in surgical
debridement and the use of various wound products, including VAC dressing. Our goal is to
accelerate healing and provide optimal comfort for our patients.

Extensive
Care With
Holistic
Facilities

Inpatient Rehabilitation
Personalised care plans designed by our healthcare team aim to assist patients in
regaining their physical mobility. We cater to patients recovering from stroke, fractures and
other debilitating conditions.

Sub-acute care

Comprehensive medical care for patients with complex medical conditions requiring higher
levels of support and rehabilitation.

Dementia care
Specialised activity-based care that is dedicated to improving the well-being of patients with
dementia by providing the necessary support and training for their caregivers.

Palliative care
Enhanced care for patients who require palliative care and support to improve the quality of
life for both patients and their family.

Renal care

Peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis care for patients with kidney disease.

Ward Types
A Class

7

C Class (as at 31.03.21)

B1 Class

33

C Class (CSU as at 31.03.21) 25

B2 Class

42

Iso ward

235
10

TOTAL

370

B2E Class 18
34
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HOME HEALTHCARE

DAY REHABILITATION CENTRE

Recognising the importance of helping our seniors age in the comfort
of their own homes, our multidisciplinary Home Healthcare Team helps
patients with the transition from the hospital back to their community.
The service provides holistic post-discharge home care plans to support

Video Conferencing
(From Sept 2020 to Mar 2021)
No of sessions:

patients beyond the hospital.

33

Home
Medical

Home
Nursing

Home
Theraphy

Total no of
home care hours

145

1643

189

Total no of visits

290

2191

252

Total no of patients

158

255

54

59 YEARS OLD
AND BELOW
60 YEARS OLD
AND ABOVE

7%
93%

FEMALE
MALE

56%
44%

Day Rehabilitation Centre (DRC) provides a comprehensive
and individualised rehabilitation to meet the needs of
patients who require therapy upon their discharge from
hospitals. The goal of the DRC programme is to help
patients regain their highest functional abilities as well
as return to community activities such as school, work,
parenting, volunteering, and life responsibilities. Each client
are assessed by therapists and customised Individualised
Care Plan is developed after discussion between therapists,
clients and caregivers. Depending on needs, selected
clients are offered additional group therapy such as
Deconditioning Group, Parkinson’s Group, Diversional Group
and Strengthening to achieve higher functional goals based
on their condition.
DRC commenced individual Jintronix from January 2020.
Jintronix is an evidence-based interactive rehabilitation
technology programme that uses virtual rehabilitation as
an adjunct to conventional therapy. Our clients with Stroke,
Parkinson’s Disease, Spinal Cord Injury, Traumatic Brain
Injury and Deconditioning have used Jintronix as part of their
rehabilitation programme. With it, clients are engaged and
motivated to participate in more exercises.
Plans are underway to use Jintronix for group therapy
tailored with structured programmes that would
accommodate more clients with similar abilities and
function. The Jintronix group therapy sessions will provide
collaborative and competitive games to help drive positive
engagement of DRC clients.
The DRC is also collaborating with TTSH to provide the Hip Fracture Bundle Plus Scheme for clients who underwent
surgery at TTSH. Through this scheme, eligible patients receive financial support for 16 sessions from the TTSH
Community Fund, on top of government subsidies to make the service more affordable. The Hip Fracture Bundle was
initiated to reduce the Length of Stay in Acute Hospital or Community Hospital while achieving better clinical outcomes.
Clients who continue their rehab at DRC were able to improve their mobility and functional abilities to prevent falls and
regain independence in the community. 11 clients have benefited from the programme since June 2020.

OUTPATIENT ONLY (DRC)
Female
Male
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188
128

59 years old
and below
60 years old
and above

63
253

TOTAL NO OF
PATIENTS

316

Total number of sessions

Total hours served

8463

7 hours x 203 days = 1421 hours
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DIALYSIS CENTRE

HEALING HUB

Our Dialysis Centre commenced

The Healing Hub is a one-stop hub which dispenses
medication for inpatients, and offers general
medication, wound dressings, limb support aids,
home diagnostic equipment as well as health
supplements for outpatients and the general public.

operations on 1July 2017. The quiet
and conducive environment enables
patients to rest while undergoing dialysis
treatment with minimal disturbance. We
are the first Community Hospital with a

When the COVID-19 pandemic struck and mask
wearing was made mandatory, the pharmacy team
was able to source and secure for masks, gloves
and disinfecting handrubs and solutions. We also
secured other items that may help prevent the
spread of infection such as face shields and surface
disinfectants for home use.

dialysis centre offering haemodialysis and
peritoneal dialysis.

Number of
masks sold

5809

Number of
sanitisers sold

368

COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE
Launched in September 2016, the Community Health Centre (CHC) aims to keep up with the model of care for the
future as it shifts beyond the hospital to the community. The CHC offers Diabetic Health Services such as Diabetic
Retinal Photography, Diabetic Foot Screening, Nurse Counselling & Education and Dietetic Services, providing
convenience to the community. Patients are able to obtain a referral for these services by visiting their General
Practitioners (GPs).

Number of
patients served

85

*CHC ceased operations
in July 2020

Total number of
dialysis sessions

38

9052
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Total number of
patients served

731
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DIGITALISING VISITOR MANAGEMENT
@ ANG MO KIO-THYE HUA KWAN HOSPITAL
Following the outbreak of COVID-19 in China, Singapore
began implementing precautionary measures in
January 2020. The pandemic situation evolved quickly
and soon, the constant addition of requirements in
managing visitors to the hospital began to put a strain
on the existing system.
The hospital had to respond quickly to the new
situation and requirements. Fortunately, the hospital
had the foresight that a robust visitor management
system would be required during such a situation
and had previously collaborated with the Singapore
Management University to develop a ‘Triage System’. However, the ‘Triage System’
had never been tested in a real pandemic situation and every pandemic requires a unique solution.
A team, with Management Information Systems Department and the Infection Control Department as the core, was
quickly formed to review and revamp the ‘Triage System’ to handle this particular pandemic.

COVID-19:
SERVING WITH COURAGE IN
ADVERSITY

Enhancements were made and when the system was implemented, it not only reduced the manpower
requirements to manage the system, but also eliminated manual processes such as cross-checking of records
between different teams, and improved the rate of report generation. The system was also extended to the Tan
Tock Seng Hospital (TTSH) Rehabilitation Department located within the hospital. Most importantly, it significantly
shortened the waiting time of visitors, which helped create a safer and better visitor experience.

CONTINUING HAEMODIALYSIS TREATMENT FOR AFFECTED PATIENTS
Even as the pandemic raged on, dialysis treatment for
kidney patients cannot be stopped as it would lead to
severe sickness or even death. This remains true for
patients who have been served the Home Quarantine
Order (HQO) or Stay Home Notice (SHN), especially
with the then looming Circuit Breaker. The team at
Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hwa Kuan Hospital’s Dialysis Centre
(DC) acted quickly to adjust the existing workflows
to accommodate such patients, while ensuring
that other patients were not exposed to additional
risk. The team converted the DC’s Fire Exit into a
dedicated entry and exit point for HQO and SHN
patients. A separate triage counter and equipment
corner for Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) were
also set up. Treatment schedules for patients were
also adjusted to ensure that treatment sessions for HQO and SHN patients were the last sessions each day to protect
the other patients. Staff at the DC would don PPEs during the treatment sessions, and the centre is disinfected at the
end of every session.
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NEW WARDS TO CARE FOR THE CHRONIC SICK
In March 2020, Bright Vision Hospital (BVH) was
designated by the Ministry of Health to exclusively
receive COVID-19 patients as part of a strategic move
to maximise the efficient use of hospital resources in
preparation for a surge in new cases. This meant that
existing patients in BVH had to be relocated, and Ang
Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital was approached
by BVH to take over the care of their chronically
ill patients. Right around the same time, Yishun
Community Hospital (YCH) also came forward with a
similar request.
The hospital acted quickly. A team comprising of
Nurses and staff from the Admissions office was
formed to undertake the task of transforming two existing wards to house these new patients, all with different
care needs. In a matter of two weeks, the team relocated existing patients to other wards, reconfigured the wards to
include additional equipment, and conducted intensive training for nurses to ensure that they are properly equipped
to care for the new patients. The transformation of the wards and successful transfer of patients from BVH and YCH
in such a short time was no mean feat, and their efforts did not go unnoticed. The team was awarded the Best Team
(Merit) award at the Singapore Health Quality Service Award 2019 held on 29 March 2020.

VIRTUAL VOLUNTEER PROGRAMMES
Voluntary work is an important aspect of our
hospital’s holistic care philosophy. Providing support
for patients, caregivers & staff, our volunteers help
enrich patients’ social life and enhance our quality of
service. All our volunteers undergo a comprehensive
orientation programme to prepare and assimilate
them into the hospital’s culture and processes.
Volunteer activities were disrupted during the
COVID-19 pandemic. Thankfully, with the help of
technology, our volunteers were able to conduct
and interact with our patients virtually through the
Zoom application. We were able to resume Karaoke,
Exercises and Percussion programmes virtually from 22 June 2020. These programmes were conducted twice a
day in the afternoon on weekdays. Our Integrated Rehabilitation Programme (IRP) was also enhanced to include
art and games and one-on-one bedside exercise sessions.

TELECONSULTATION FOR PATIENTS AT HOME
To help reduce the transmission risk of
COVID-19, the Home Healthcare Team, with
funding help from the Agency for Integrated
Care, introduced a new teleconsultation
service in September 2020. Through video
calls, our clinicians were able to speak to
patients while performing a visual review of
their conditions and make adjustments to
the treatment plan.
Our nurses ensured that patients followed
the treatment plan, took their medication as
prescribed, and also addressed concerns
about their wounds if they had any. Patients
were also taught how to correctly carry out therapy sessions at home with their caregivers,
and our therapists helped to reinforce the correct procedures and techniques during the calls.
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OUR STORIES
JOANNE - OUR NURSE REMEMBERS
Who would have thought that Singapore will be
greatly affected by COVID-19?
It has been a whole 20 months’ full of worry, anxiety,
and uncertainty. As the pandemic evolved, the
healthcare industry became a focal point throughout
the world.
I vividly remember the time when the first confirmed
case hit Singapore. I was away in Thailand during
the long Chinese New Year weekend, and there
were increasing numbers of cases back there. I
was getting updates from friends in Singapore
and closely followed the local news too. It was
an anxious period for us, as we thought that we
wouldn’t be able to return to Singapore. Thankfully,
we managed to get home and that was when the
new measures were imposed. I received messages
and updates from colleagues informing me that the
hospital had closed its entrance and restricted visits.
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It was mandatory for us to show our work passes
at the lobby before entering the premises, and staff
surveillance was re-emphasised. The lobby was
transformed into a registration area for visitors within
a short period of time. Team segregation took place
for all departments and in the wards. It was tough as
each ward worked on lean manpower and deployment
was on hold. The measure was vital to minimise the
risk of exposure of COVID-19. Although we are in a
community hospital, we certainly still felt the impact.
When we received patients from the acute hospital,
we would be monitoring the patients’ temperatures
closely, and screened them if they had travelled
to high-risk zones. Patients who had respiratory
symptoms would be transferred back to the acute
hospital for further management. Just imagine the
inconvenience the patient and their relatives had to go
through because of all the movement. Apart from that,
the nurses had to continuously monitor the patients
and escalate any issues with the patients’ condition to
the doctors. The infection control measures were also
heightened and it was mandatory to put on surgical
face masks during work hours.

In April 2020, an announcement was made that
the hospital will be receiving Chronic Sick (CS)
patients from Bright Vision Hospital (BVH). This
was to make way for BVH to house or nurse stable
COVID-19 patients. We received approximately 40
CS patients. Out of this group, 70% of them required
tracheostomy care, and they are at high risk of
getting a respiratory infection. The nurses worked
doubly hard to ensure that the CS patients received
the best quality care during their stay. These patients
were monitored every four hours. As most of them
required high nursing care such as turning, regular
suctioning and feeding, the nurses changed their
routine and worked closely as a team to ensure
that care was rendered efficiently. Despite scarce
resources, we still managed to ensure that patients
received the care they required.

During the circuit breaker, no visitors were allowed to
visit the patients. We, nurses, became the patients’
advocates. I remembered that there was a directive
from the Ministry that visits were not allowed at all,
and the nurses were scolded for not allowing visitors
to enter. They were busy answering the calls and
explaining to the relatives that it was not their call to
deny. It took up a lot of their time to answer these calls
and I saw the exhaustion on their faces. They faced
high levels of physical and emotional stress. What
made it worse was that the nurses were also away
from their home and families, their primary source of
support. The nurses’ break time was also segregated,
no longer allowing more than two people in the
tearoom. It was difficult for us to interact with each
other. Roll calls were called off and messages were
disseminated through other modes of communications
such as messaging apps or emails. During that
period, the ambience in the ward was tense, yet the
nurses gave their best to provide care for the patients.
Nonetheless, we still ensured that the nurses’ learning
was not jeopardised. Most of the training was scaled
down to smaller group sizes and some of the meetings
were done remotely via Zoom, Webex or at the ward
level.
Life goes on even if there are unforeseen challenges
ahead. This experience has made nurses more
adaptable to changes, and hopefully, we will be more
prepared to overcome the challenges ahead.
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DR DEREK SHARES HIS VIEW

OUR THERAPISTS REMINISCE

It was a Friday in early February 2020, and Singapore
had already been DORSCON Yellow for a week or
so, with pandemic plans, previously just table-top
exercises, dusted off and already in full swing. There
had already been whispers a few days before about
MOH declaring that Singapore would go Orange.

Thoughts from Lorrian, our Physiotherapist

There had been just 33 COVID-19 community
cases then.
A pandemic ‘war-room’ had been set up in our
hospital to discuss pandemic plans, and our senior
and middle management were huddled in the room,
furiously working out plans. A flurry of WhatsApp
message notifications flew across the room. It was
DORSCON Orange! No, that was ‘fake news’. Minutes
later, a Channel NewsAsia report made it unequivocal
– we were in DORSCON Orange.
Since then we’ve been through more MOH circulars
and advisories than you can shake a stick at, more
changes than we can remember, with countless
changes to patient, visitor advisories (none at all,
then one, then one for 20 minutes, then only if they
did ART), segregating by ward, then wing, then team.
Splitting offices, with regular lunch buddies relegated
to just acquaintances. Emptying entire wards so that
we could help another hospital take COVID patients.
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As an inpatient physiotherapist, I treat patients and
help them improve their quality of life. This pandemic
has immensely changed my work routine.

Zoom meetings, once alien, became as familiar as the
back of our hands, over which we sparred and planned
the finer points of a directive. Frustration as a new
circular superseded another released barely days ago.
Amidst all these, having to tell our patients and
their relatives that they wouldn’t be able to see each
other for weeks, and that this was for their safety.
Comforting patients who couldn’t go home for Hari
Raya. Telling angry relatives that “sorry, they couldn’t
bring food for their loved ones, but please trust us,
we will take care of them and we will make sure they
are safe”, even as our own foreign doctors and staff
worried over their relatives in distant lands whom they
couldn’t visit.
It’s been a long time since we first heard about what
was then called the novel coronavirus. As a hospital,
and as doctors, it has been 18 long months of National
Service which has made us learn so much about what
we are capable of together. I’m immensely proud that
we’ve risen collectively, with all our colleagues, to each
ever-changing challenge. The ground is still shifting,
but it doesn’t bother us as much, and we’ll find our
footing. As we greet each other and our patients, I
feel heartened at the many smiles – sparkling and
cheerful even behind masks - that tell us that we’re in it
together, and we will overcome.

My workplace has implemented various
precautionary measures such as temperature
checks, check-in and out using TraceTogether
applications, wearing masks and maintaining social
distance at all times. We take every precaution
to mitigate the risks to patients and staff in our
workplace. The global health crisis has made us
work through it including changes to the treatment
model, altering schedules and expectations going
forward. Not only this, infection control is imperative
in our daily practices such as hand hygiene,
equipment cleaning and correct use of PPE.
As I meet with my patients face-to-face, I have
to ensure they are getting the care needed and
are referred appropriately. I have been monitoring
their vital signs and observing my patients closely
and informing our team doctor when I note any
changes in their status. There are also cases with
cardiopulmonary conditions which I need to perform
chest physiotherapy, I will need more time to see the
patients as I am required to don full PPE.
I remember during the circuit breaker period, the
outpatient rehabilitation services were suspended.
Hence it is essential to utilise any resources that
help empower our patients to continue their journey
of recovery and strengthening on their own. During
this challenging and uncertain period, we prescribed
home exercise programmes with instructions and
pictures. We then reviewed the exercises to ensure
patients are able to carry out the exercises with the
correct form at home.

I feel grateful that our team continues to look to each
other for support during such a stressful period.
We are a family and we rely heavily on each other at
this time because we all know what the other is going
through. My supervisors always make sure we are
doing well and keep us posted on all pertinent updates
to stay abreast of the impact of COVID-19 on our
profession.
It has been rewarding for an essential worker like
myself, ensuring my patients are receiving the due care
during this pandemic. I have grown as a clinician from
this experience, and I also make sure that I have some
time for self-care. Through the worst of the pandemic, I
took time to read more books, listen to songs, maintain
a healthy diet and made some time to explore some
nature parks in Singapore. Forming these habits
helped me stay centred and maintain perspective even
on those days when I was anxious and worried. It was
and continues to be important to present my best self
daily to the patients I’m serving.
The biggest takeaway for me is that COVID-19 does not
discriminate. It affects every age group, gender and
race and thus, we must always stay vigilant and take
it seriously. I hope this surge ends soon and we do not
have to deal with this again.
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Memories from our Occupational Therapist,
Jacqueline
COVID-19 has proven to be a challenge for many
including myself over this past year. We have been
nudged to adapt to the various changes as a result
of the restrictions set in place both at work and
in our personal lives. Moreover, as a healthcare
professional, the pandemic has definitely had a
greater impact on myself and my fellow colleagues.
From wearing N95 masks to being isolated in certain
wards to the lack of interaction during our lunch
breaks had dampened our spirits tremendously in
the initial stages.
However, with time, as a team we have found ways
to adapt and find joy in the little things. The smile
that is masked but still shines through the eyes of
our colleagues when we lend a helping hand, or the
appreciation patients show us for lending them a
listening ear when their family members are not able
to visit are some of the many experiences that have
helped us stay strong and hopeful.
Some of us did also feel left out from not being
able to work from the comfort of our home when
family and friends surrounding us could. However,
on deeper reflection, I realized we should be grateful
that we were not cooped up in our homes and were
able to have a change of environment even if it was
only for work.

Through the eyes of our Dietitian, Wang Yen
There are multiple challenges that we encountered
from team segregation, wards locking down to
rostered routine testing. Nevertheless, I am thankful
that I’ve grown stronger and developed my strengths
during this difficult period.

Personally, other than the support from my
colleagues, seeing that I can continue supporting
patients and their families further validates the
importance of my job despite the challenges I faced
during this period. Having team bonding sessions
during the festive seasons, despite it being via zoom,
has also been a form of respite.

I’ve learned to slow down and be more mindful.
Spending time on self-care leads to a greater
appreciation for life and a higher level of happiness.
I explored new interests such as gardening, cooking,
painting and reading. I would never have enjoyed this
had I continued my life at a stressful and fast pace.
On top of that, I am more vigilant and responsible
for my own health and that of my loved ones by
practicing regular hand washing, maintaining
safe distance from others, monitoring daily body
temperature and be more aware of signs of Upper
Respiratory Tract Infections to prevent the spread of
COVID-19.

Over the past year and a half, my feelings towards
the pandemic have evolved from fear of contracting
the virus to annoyance at not being able to live our
lives as before because of the virus and finally, to
acceptance of the virus. I learned that accepting it
meant that I should not have expectations about
Singapore shifting back to pre-COVID times or even
opening its borders for travel but to embrace the
small wins that we experience each day.

Due to the social restrictions, I get to spend more
time bonding with my husband at home. We had
more quality time exploring common interests
together and understanding each other better, thus
strengthening our relationship. Although most of
my family members (parents and siblings) are not in
Singapore and we have not met each other for close
to two years due to the pandemic, I am happy to be
able to stay connected with them via video calls.

This pandemic has not been kind to many of us but
it has made many of us more resilient, adaptable
and patient. It has made me more appreciative
of the freedom we had and to be grateful for the
freedom we now have. It has made me understand
the importance of my job no matter the situation.
I’m sure there are more challenges ahead related to
COVID-19 and I’ll continue trying my best to adapt
through the changes and continue providing the best
version of myself to my patients.
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With team segregation at work, there is frustration
where some work cannot be shared as we are not
allowed to cross-cover among different teams.
However, this did not affect my relationship with
my colleagues. We continued to maintain good
teamwork and tried to share the non-clinical workload
whilst helping each other whenever possible. Group
activities and public talks are cancelled as part of
the preventive measures of the spread of COVID-19.
Due to visit restrictions at the hospital, there were
some elderly patients, especially those with dementia
who have suffered from worsening oral intake when
their family members could not visit them. It was
challenging for me, as a Dietitian. To overcome
these, I have learnt to be more flexible and creative in
applying interventions.
With more and more virtual public talks, discussions
and meetings, I have learnt to be more tech-savvy. It
can be quite challenging and demotivating working
alone or with less people in your team after team
segregation. However, I am thankful to have a group
of nice colleagues who constantly show their care
and love by regularly checking on the well-being.
We know that adjusting to change can be challenging,
yet change is inevitable. There is a greater purpose in
every difficulty if we look at the larger picture. As we
continue to maintain our vigilance and optimise our
health in combating the COVID-19 pandemic, let us
also take this opportunity to slow down, cherish our
loved ones and grow personally.
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TERENCE - MEMORIES FROM MIS

AGNES - OUR VOLUNTEER’S STORY

COVID-19 has affected everyone in almost every
way – from personal to work activities. So, what
was the impact of COVID-19 on IT projects in the
hospital?

Agnes started volunteering with Ang Mo Kio-Thye
Hua Kwan Hospital since August 2013. For the
past few years, she has been volunteering regularly
every Tuesday and Wednesday for Games Day and
Karaoke programmes respectively.

For instance, the challenges faced for our in-house
systems such as Triage system, which capture
the visitor and next of kin information for contact
tracing purposes, were quite significant as MIS had
to keep up with the ever-changing MOH visitation
policies and safe management measures in a
timely manner.
The constant changes meant that there were
significant logic changes needed in the system and
enhancements must be implemented within a short
turnaround time, sometimes over the weekends
and public holidays.To meet the government’s push
to maintain operability in a pandemic situation,
the hospital had part of the workforce working
from home. MIS had to ensure there were means
for virtual private network access to the hospital
systems from one’s home, set within the security
requirements of the ministries such as MOH
and CSA.
The MIS team was split into two, with each team
handling the daily operation for different parts
of the hospital. All meetings, be it internal, with
other departments or with external parties were
held through virtual meeting platforms, which also
contributed to the added workload to support users
on these new platforms.

50

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

COVID-19 has also changed the way we managed
projects. Both virtual and hybrid approaches
for internal and external communications were
implemented to adhere to the safe management
measures. This disruption has also delayed our project
schedules due to the changes in social restrictions –
for example activities that required stakeholders to be
on-site are limited or not allowed.
Procurement of IT systems were delayed worldwide
as the supply of computer chips diminished due to
the influx in demand for computers needed for online
meetings both for work and school. The project was
extended to allow vendors more time to acquire the
devices required and to meet government restriction
on the number of people allowed in a group at any one
time for on-site work.

An active and passionate volunteer, Agnes will
attend our programmes on a weekly basis, even
during rainy days. She will always arrive earlier to
engage and befriend the patients in the wards. She
will encourage and motivate them to join our Games
Day and Karaoke programmes which can help our
patients relax and release stress. Agnes likes to
interact with patients and believes that they will
recover faster if they receive support from others.
On Games Day, there are many different activities
such as board games, card games, and mahjong.
Agnes is always very enthusiastic, participating in
different games together with the patients. She is
also very patient, guiding and teaching the patients
how to play the games if they are not familiar with it.
During Karaoke, Agnes will stand beside the patients
together with her handheld percussion instruments
like a tambourine or wooden percussion block to
encourage them to sing along with her. Patients,
who initially did not like to sing, are touched by
her motivation and encouragement will sing along
together with her. Agnes feels elated when she sees
smiles on the patients’ faces.

At the end of the programmes, Agnes will help to
collect feedback from the patients and let us know the
games and songs that they like.
Her passion for volunteering continued, even when all
volunteer programmes ceased during the COVID-19
outbreak. When we announced that we are starting
our online volunteer programme, she was one of the
first volunteers who supported us. She would also
encourage other volunteers to join, and would actively
participate in our new online programmes such as
Karaoke, Exercise and Seated Taichi. She will help
to motivate our patients and brighten up their days
through these online sessions.
Agnes’s positive attitude towards volunteering is not
only an inspiration to the patients, but also to the
staff and family members. Agnes is a very dedicated
volunteer who always puts her heart into helping
others. Through her positive attitude towards life and
words of encouragement, she has become a pillar of
support for many patients.

Although MIS felt the full impact from COVID-19, we
still adjusted the way we work according to the safe
management measures in place, to keep everyone
safe in the new norm. We will adapt and succeed to
overcome this pandemic together as a nation for our
future generations.
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STAFF ACHIEVEMENTS
COMMUNITY CARE MANPOWER DEVELOPMENT AWARD 2020
We recognise the need for staff to go for further
training or studies to develop professionally. The
Community Care Manpower Development Award
(CCMDA) provides our staff with the necessary
support to pursue and grow their career in the
Community Care sector.

Enriching
Experience With
Consistent
Training
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8

Award
Recipients
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HEALTHCARE HUMANITY AWARDS 2020

COMMUNITY CARE EXCELLENCE AWARD 2020

The Healthcare Humanity Awards pays tribute
to exemplary healthcare workers, caregivers and
volunteers who go the extra mile for the needy.
Mr Mohamad Sharil Bin Abdul Rahim, Senior
Executive of the Volunteer Management Team
was one of the 95 recipients of the 17th Healthcare
Humanity Awards held on 8 December 2020.

The Community Care Excellence Award aims to
recognise the contributions of individuals and project
teams who have demonstrated exemplary service and
commitment in delivering quality care to their clients
in the Community Care Sector. On 30 October 2020,
13 silver award recipients from Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua
Kwan Hospital were recognised in a virtual ceremony
graced by Mr Masagos Zulkifli, Minster for Social and
Family Development and Second Minister for Health.

1

Award
Recipient
Mohamad Sharil
Bin Abdul Rahim

SINGAPORE HEALTH QUALITY SERVICE AWARDS 2021
The Singapore Health Quality Service Awards 2021
held on 29 March 2021 was a special COVID-19
edition themed “Celebration of Unity”, which
celebrated close to 7,000 healthcare professionals
and partners from 38 public and private healthcare
institutions, community hospitals as well as
agencies from the Community Care sector who have
contributed significantly in the nation’s fight against
COVID-19.

LONG SERVICE AWARD 2020
AMK-THKH celebrated our Long Service Award
(LSA) 2020 with a small celebration held on 11 Dec
2020 together with five of our 25-year recipients,
their HOD and CEO. To show our appreciation, we
also produced a video that featured their 25 years
of journey with us.
Other LSA recipients had received their award from
their HOD and HR, depending on their length of
service.

13

Silver
Awardees
from Allied
Health

25 years

- 5 Staff

15 years
10 years

- 5 Staff

5 years

- 70 Staff

- 7 Staff

87

Award
Recipients

In addition to the 101 individual Healthcare Hero
Award recipients, seven staff from Nursing and
the Admissions Office received the Best Team
(Merit) Award for stepping up to the challenge of
transforming our wards in the midst of the pandemic
to care for patients with different profiles.

108

Award
Recipients

Best Team
101 Healthcare
Hero Award 7 Award
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OUR TEAM
STAFF PROFILE

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

At AMK-THKH, we believe in establishing a trusted relationship between the hospital and our staff. To achieve
our vision of serving mankind, we put our patients and the community at the heart of everything we do. We are
diverse and multicultural, and it is our commitment to a common cause that drives us.

Learning Management System
(Launched on 10 Feb 2021)
Launched on 10 Feb 2021, the Learning Management System enabled staff to apply for short courses, review and
track their own learning needs and training plans.

Root Cause Analysis Workshop
(16 Dec 2020)
Nine staff participated in the half-day in-house Root Cause Analysis workshop conducted by Eric Arkar Maw
Wai, Assistant Manager of the Healthcare Performance Office. The workshop aimed to equip participants
with the knowledge and skills of identifying the different types of root causes and facilitate effective problem
analysis.

56

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

57

Workplace Learning Programme for Managers
13 Nov 2020 - 8 Mar 2021

STAFF WELLBEING

Funded by National Council of Social Service (NCSS), the Workplace Learning Programme which is conducted
by the Social Service Institute and FranklinCovey, to develop functional skills of managers. The programme
covers the topic of “Driving Results through Engagement”, which can help us strengthen communication and
relationships between Supervisors and Staff. It consisted of two full-day seminars and three coaching sessions
over a period of five months and 28 managers attended this programme.

Monthly Fruits Day
As part of our efforts to promote a healthy lifestyle and diet, our HR dept
has started distributing fruits to all staff monthly since July 2019. Different
types of fruits are distributed each month e.g. Apples, Oranges, Pears and
Bananas.

Workplace Health Promotion Programmes

Senior Management Associate Scheme (SMAS)

HR organised a series of virtual Workplace Health Promotion Programmes
under the Health Promotion Board’s SME Health+ funding scheme in
FY20/21. Programmes were conducted on Ergonomics, Mental Wellbeing
and an off-site Basic Health Screening.

The SMAS was launched by AIC in 2016 to encourage more mid-career Singaporeans with managerial
experience to join the growing Community Care sector. It aims to support Community Care organisations
in recruiting leadership talent to support their agencies’ growth and development. Associates are typically
recruited for middle-management positions or higher, and in are as such as operations, information technology,
human resource, finance etc.
Four managerial staff joined this programme in FY2020-2021.

CNY Chinese Astrology talk
Due to good response from 2020’s session, HR once again engaged a
financial institution to conduct a talk on the Chinese Zodiac & feng shui.
The session was conducted via hybrid mode.

Peer Learning Sessions:
Nov 2020 – Feb 2021

Hari Raya Puasa

• Contemporary Management of Musculoskeletal Pain Disorders: A Clinical Translation Framework

Hari Raya was celebrated differently this year. Unlike previous years
where there were physical celebrations, Sugee Cookies, one of the popular
snacks, were distributed to staff to sweeten up this festive season amid
the COVID-19 outbreak.

• IT Security Awareness
• Management of Severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)
Introduced in Nov 2020 as part of internal sharing, Peer Learning Sessions enabled the respective
subject matter experts to share their knowledge with our colleagues.

HSEU provided 600 care packs for our healthcare workers as a token of
support and solidarity to our staff who were working hard to fight against
the COVID-19 virus.

95 staff had participated in this Peer Learning Sessions.

External Sponsor
•
•
•
•
•

HSEU
Lighthouse Bistro
MaskForce
SpaceCuboid
nowyourmind

Lighthouse Bistro blessed us with 400 bento sets on 20 April 2020 and 27
April 2020 to show appreciation and spur our tireless healthcare workers
on during the pandemic.
MaskForce distributed close to 90 mask kits to our migrant staff.
SpaceCuboid provided free private live-stream classes, which included
activities such as Pilates, Yoga, High-Intensity Interval Training, Movement
Meditation to our staff in June and September.
Mr Tan Cheen Chong, a Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR)
teacher from nowyourmind, conducted a complimentary 20-min online
session on Mindfulness for our staff, to learn how to cope with stress and
anxiety through a mindful relaxation on 15 April 2020.
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Kindness Day 2020
AMK-THKH took part in Kindness Day SG as we aim to come together in
celebration of kindness and graciousness, especially during the pandemic
to focus on the real heroes – frontliners, COVID-related support and nonprofit groups, F&B staff, and even ordinary people who have helped in one
way or another. A Kindness kit, provided by Singapore Kindness Movement
was distributed to each staff.

Deepavali
As we were unable to hold physical celebrations, Muruku snacks were
distributed to staff to boost their morale during the festive seasons.

Corporate Memberships of Local Attractions
We had conducted a survey with staff to find out their interest in local
attractions in Oct 2019 and the top three local attractions were Singapore Zoo,
Night Safari and Wild Wild Wet. We purchased the Corporate Memberships from
these attractions for our staff and their families to enjoy and bond together.

50% Subsidy of Annual Union Subscription
After we entered a Memorandum of Understanding with the Healthcare
Services Employers’ Union (HSEU) in 2017, we have reimbursed our staff
who have subscribed to the union 50% of the prevailing annual union
subscriptions (13 months x S$4.50 per month).
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OUR DONORS
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UOB Kay Hian Private Limited

$ 200,000

Happy Enterprises Pte Ltd

$ 35,000

Absolute Maintenance Services Pte Ltd

$ 18,000

Jack Investment Pte Ltd

$ 10,000

Tai Tiong Tentage Service

$ 10,000

C J Management And Development Pte Ltd

$ 8,000

GS Technology Pte Ltd

$ 5,000

Thomson Shin Min Foundation

$ 5,000

Sky Blue Aircon Engineering Pte Ltd

$ 4,188

Power Team Technologies (S) Pte Ltd

$ 3,000

RSM Chio Lim LLP

$ 3,000

SecureCom Solutions Pte Ltd

$ 3,000

L K Ang Construction Pte Ltd

$ 2,925

Quickloan Pte. Ltd. (Lee Wen Xin)

$ 2,000

Habitat Learning Centre Pte Ltd

$ 1,888

Borneo Motors (Singapore) Pte Ltd

$ 1,372

The Centre For Inner Studies In SporeLtd

$ 1,200
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LOOKING AHEAD
To achieve our mission to be a hospital of choice, we will continue to work together
with our partners to ensure our patients are receiving quality care and services.
We will be developing our new Strategic Plan for next five years by setting up
Centres of Excellence for Renal Care and Stroke Management. Massive research and
preparation are in place to discover new ways for the transformation.
With your support as our community partners, let us work closely together to allow
our beneficiaries to tap on our seamless services.
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Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd
Directors’ statement
Year ended 31 March 2021

Directors’ statement
We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
In our opinion:
(a) the financial statements set out on pages FS1 to FS45 are drawn up so as to give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and the financial
activities and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Singapore Charities Act,
Chapter 37 and relevant Charities Regulations, and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards; and
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements
for issue.

(A Company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital)
Registration Number : 200201385C
(Registered under the Charities Act, Chapter 37)

FINANCIAL REPORT
Annual Report
Year ended 31 MARCH 2021

Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:
Lee Kim Siang
Ong Ser Huan
Jayaram Lingamanaicker
Zulkifli Bin Baharudin
Philip Choo
Tan Tiong Har
John Teo Woon Keng
Low Cheng Hock
Ching Chiat Kwong
Eu Yee Ming Richard
Richard Tan
Koh Juay Meng
Siow Yuen Khong Alex

(Appointed on 1 June 2020)

Directors’ interests
As the Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital, no director who held office at
the end of the financial year had interests in the capital of the Company either at the beginning or
at the end of the financial year.
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KPMG LLP
16 Raffles Quay #22-00
Hong Leong Building
Singapore 048581

Telephone
Fax
Internet

+65 6213 3388
+65 6225 0984
www.kpmg.com.sg

Independent auditors’ report
Members of the Company
Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd (‘the
Company’), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, the
statements of financial activities and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages FS1 to
FS45.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (‘the Act’), the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter
37 and relevant Charities Regulations (‘the Charities Act and Regulations’) and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (‘FRSs’) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and of the financial activities and cash flows of the Company
for the year ended on that date.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (‘SSAs’). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Company
in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (‘ACRA Code’) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon.
We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd
Independent auditors’ report
Year ended 31 March 2021



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Singapore Charities Act and FRSs, and for
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controls that we identify during our audit.

The Directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:




Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.
Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls.

4
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During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention to cause us to believe that:
(a) the use of donation monies was not in accordance with the objectives of the Company as
required under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character)
Regulations; and
(b) the Company has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (fund-raising
expenses) of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
21 September 2021
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11

4,345,062
105,542,036
1,049,789
110,936,887
4,573,880
78,604,770
(1,067,927)
82,110,723

Total liabilities

Total funds and liabilities

Members Guarantee
4 members (2020: 4) of $100 each

Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
14
16,610,968
8,566,330

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Deferred government grants
13
14
15

10,054,427
3,926,973
4,561,675
18,543,075
35,154,043
9,299,237
3,833,105
3,061,500
16,193,842
24,760,172

146,090,930
106,870,895

400
400

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



1,757,587


(228,818)





26,937,266

(236,068)

(236,068)
(236,068)

1,757,587






(50,488,119)
(153,884)
(50,642,003)
(51,110,086)



7,250


7,250










(468,083)

1,849,162
1,854,991
74,343,199
78,047,352



















FS2

1,757,587

1,757,587

26,708,448

(50,724,187)
(153,884)
(50,878,071)
(51,346,154)

(468,083)

1,856,412
1,854,991
74,343,199
78,054,602

---------------------------------------------- 2021 ---------------------------------------------Accumulated
Fair Value
Patient
Fund
Reserve
Welfare Fund Sinking Fund
Total
(unrestricted) (unrestricted)
(restricted)
(restricted)
Funds
$
$
$
$
$

12

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to income or expenditure:
Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value
Total items that will not be reclassified to income or
expenditure

4,254,795
326,657
15,263,170
60,915,396
80,760,018
106,870,895

Net incoming resources/ (resources expended) for the year

10,868,304
218,703
13,090,633
62,696,095
86,873,735
146,090,930

20

7
8
9
10

Total resources expended

1,042,761
12,280,291
7,266
12,780,559
26,110,877

19

Current assets
Investments
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
1,007,423
20,354,099
12,628
37,843,045
59,217,195

Resources expended:
Costs of generating funds:
- Donation expenses
Charitable activities:
- Other costs
- Finance costs from lease liabilities

4
5
6
7

16
17
18

2020
$

Incoming resources:
Incoming resources from generated funds:
- Donation income
- Investment income
Incoming resources from charitable activities
Total incoming resources

Funds
Restricted funds
Unrestricted funds
Fair value reserve

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investments
2021
$

Note

Total assets
Note

Statement of financial activities
Year ended 31 March 2021

Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2021
Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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360,129
2,117,716
(1,067,927)
1,049,789


26,937,266
78,604,770
105,542,036

Total comprehensive income for the year
Total funds brought forward
Total funds carried forward



(927,492)
(927,492)
(140,435)
(1,067,927)

13,600,210


13,600,210
65,004,560
78,604,770

Net incoming resources/ (resources expended) for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to income or expenditure:
Equity investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value
Total comprehensive income for the year
Total funds brought forward
Total funds carried forward

935,880

1,037,711


(101,831)

(101,831)

(129,609)

(129,609)
(129,609)



27,778


27,778

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Total resources expended









(52,942,751)
(282,476)
(53,225,227)
(53,412,986)

743,974
897,323
65,371,899
67,013,196

FS3

110,936,887

82,110,723

28,826,164

360,129

(59,117)

419,246

3,638,000

3,638,000


















FS4

82,110,723

69,539,836

(927,492)
12,570,887

13,498,379

(53,072,360)
(282,476)
(53,354,836)
(53,542,595)

(187,759)

771,752
897,323
65,371,899
67,040,974

---------------------------------------------- 2020 ---------------------------------------------Accumulated
Fair Value
Patient
Fund
Reserve
Welfare Fund Sinking Fund
Total
(unrestricted) (unrestricted)
(restricted)
(restricted)
Funds
$
$
$
$
$



19

16
17
18

Note

3,638,000

3,638,000
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707,062

935,880

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

(187,759)

Resources expended:
Costs of generating funds:
- Donation expenses
Charitable activities:
- Other costs
- Finance costs from lease liabilities

Incoming resources:
Incoming resources from generated funds:
- Donation income
- Investment income
Incoming resources from charitable activities
Total incoming resources

Statement of financial activities
Year ended 31 March 2021



(59,117)



(228,818)



419,246

---------------------------------------------- 2021 ---------------------------------------------Accumulated
Fair Value
Patient
Fund
Reserve
Welfare Fund Sinking Fund
Total
Note (unrestricted) (unrestricted)
(restricted)
(restricted)
Funds
$
$
$
$
$



Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to income
or expenditure:
Debt investments at FVOCI – net change in fair value
Debt investments at FVOCI – reclassified to income or
expenditure
Total items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to
income or expenditure

Statement of financial activities
Year ended 31 March 2021
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Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the financial statements
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net incoming resources for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Interest income
Net change in fair value of financial assets designated
at FVTPL
Debt investments at FVOCI – reclassified to income or
expenditure
Dividend income
Impairment (reversal)/loss on receivables
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off
Interest expenses on lease liabilities
Rent concession

2020
$

26,708,448

13,498,379

4
5
6
17

352,450
3,952,265
783
(1,152,697)

272,697
3,876,836
11,282
(1,071,510)

17

(376,400)

17
17
20
20
20
22
14

(59,117)
(266,777)
(87,117)
(7,838)
17,168
153,884
(1,345,940)
27,889,112


(224,241)
1,331

4,062
282,476

17,049,740

107,954
(153,905)
755,190
(825,473)
27,772,878

2,239
(3,955,212)
(464,719)
1,857,048
14,489,096

(29,122,760)
1,131,278

(4,376,082)
870,459

7,838
(334,280)
(6,145)
266,777
(28,057,292)


(562,180)

224,241
(3,843,562)

2,434,976
(2,541,627)
(153,884)
(260,535)

3,257,091
(3,757,692)
(282,476)
(783,077)

(544,949)
60,489,784
59,944,835

9,862,457
50,627,327
60,489,784

Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Deferred government grants
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows for investing activities
Acquisition of investments, net
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Dividend received
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows for financing activities
Rental subvention from government
Repayment of lease liabilities
Interest paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2021
$

14
14
14

10

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 September
2021.

1

Domicile and activities
Ang Mo Kio - Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Ltd (the ‘Company’) is incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore as a company limited by guarantee. The address of the Company’s registered office is
17 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 9, Singapore 569766.

398,428

The Company was registered as a charity under the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 on 27
March 2002. The Company is an approved institution of a public character in accordance with
Section 37 of the Income Tax Act.
The principal activities of the Company are those relating to the carrying on of the business of the
hospital offering rehabilitation and sub-acute care to patients. The Company is a not-for-profit
entity whose mission is:


To serve and to reach out to our patients, their families and the community, regardless of race,
colour, creed, language, culture and religion.



To rehabilitate and heal with commitment and professionalism in an environment of
continuous learning and growth.

The Company was initially established as Ang Mo Kio Community Hospital under the auspices
of the SingHealth group to serve increasing convalescent and rehabilitative needs in Singapore.
In 2002, with the change in the role of community hospitals within the healthcare structure, the
Company was divested from the SingHealth group.
The Company was assumed under the Thye Hua Kwan Moral Society and re-named as Ang Mo
Kio – Thye Hua Kwan Hospital with the same shared vision of serving patients needing continual
convalescent and rehabilitation care.
The Company provides a full spectrum of continuous rehabilitation and stepdown services for
patients and their families in sync with its vision and mission.

2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (‘FRS’). The changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 2.5.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2.2

Basis of measurement

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the
following note:

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as otherwise
described in the notes below.

2.3

• Note 24 – Financial instruments

2.5

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency.

2.4

New standards and amendments

Use of estimates and judgements

The Company has applied the following FRSs, amendments to and interpretations of FRS for the
first time for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2020:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.






Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods
affected.

Other than Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to FRS 116), the application of
these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in Note 24 Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance on trade receivables.

Covid-19-Related rent concessions (Amendment to FRS 116)

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data
as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

3

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement
(with Level 3 being the lowest).
The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

FS7
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Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these financial statements, except as explained in Note 2.5, which addresses changes in
accounting policies.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in FRS Standards
Definition of Material (Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS 8)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to FRS 109, FRS 39 and FRS 107)
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to FRS 116)

The Company has early adopted Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to FRS 116
issued on 28 May 2020. The amendment introduces an optional practical expedient for leases in
which the Company is a lessee – i.e. for leases to which the Company applies the practical
expedient, the Company is not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions that are a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic are lease modifications. The Company has
applied the amendment retrospectively. The amendment has no impact on accumulated fund at 1
April 2020.

Measurement of fair values

78

Changes in significant accounting policies

3.1

Financial instruments

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement
Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
Trade receivables and debt investments are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

FS8
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(ii)

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”). A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

Classification and subsequent measurement



The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

Non-derivative financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment;
or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the
business model.






Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated at FVTPL:



it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI
A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:



it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity investments at FVOCI
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held-for-trading, the Company may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Financial assets at FVTPL
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.

FS9
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the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s
management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed;
how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition
of the assets.
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as
returns on financial assets.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company
considers:





contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
prepayment and extension features; and
terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).
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A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount
or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an
amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid)
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature
is insignificant at initial recognition.

(iii)

Derecognition
Financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset when:



Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial assets at FVTPL

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either
- substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred;
or
- the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognised in income or expenditure.

Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Company enters into transactions whereby it
transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial liabilities

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in income or expenditure. Any gain or loss on derecognition
is recognised in income or expenditure.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged,
cancelled, or expired. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

Debt investments at FVOCI

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in income and expenditure.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
income or expenditure. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to income or expenditure.

(iv)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right
to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Equity investments at FVOCI
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in
income or expenditure unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to income
or expenditure.

The Company do not have any financial assets and financial liabilities that:



Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and
losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in income or expenditure. Directly attributable
transaction costs are recognised in income or expenditure as incurred.

Offsetting

(v)

are offset in the statement of financial position; or
are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement, irrespective of whether they are
offset in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of three
months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
their fair value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short-term commitments.

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in income or expenditure.
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3.2

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial activities on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment
unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Cost is stated net of related government grants (Note 3.7).

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and
are ready for use.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes:

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:
Medical and hospital equipment
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Right-of-use asset - Leased building

 the cost of materials and direct labour;
 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for their
intended use;
 when the Company has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located;
and
 capitalised borrowing costs.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate, at each reporting date.
Construction work-in-progress is stated at cost. Expenditure relating to construction work-inprogress are capitalised when incurred. The assets are not depreciated until the construction is
completed and are ready for use.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.
Where an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

3.3

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value.

Subsequent costs

Amortisation of computer software is recognised in the statement of financial activities on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 3 years.
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate,
at each reporting date.

3.4

Low value assets costing less than $1,000 individually are written off in the period of outlay.
Donated property, plant and equipment received costing less than $1,000 is written off in the
period of receipt. The corresponding donation income is recognised in the statement of financial
activities in the period of receipt. Donated property, plant and equipment received costing more
than $1,000 are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives so as to match the related
amortisation of the deferred income (see Note 3.9(v)).
Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.
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Intangible assets
Computer software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is accounted for as an
intangible asset and is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is
recognised net within the statement of financial activities.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within that part
will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the statement of financial activities as incurred.

5 to 10 years
3 years
5 years
8 years
Over the remaining lease term of 6 years

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Allowance is made where
necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective inventories.

3.5

Impairment

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on:



financial assets measured at amortised cost; and
debt investments measured at FVOCI.
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Loss allowances of the Company are measured on either of the following bases:



Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is
less than 12 months); or
Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument or contract asset.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

Simplified approach




The Company applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.




General approach

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

The Company applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments.
Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
at initial recognition.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of these assets.
For debt investments at FVOCI, loss allowances are charged to income or expenditure and
recognised in OCI.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Write-off

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:



the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse
by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
the financial asset is more than 2 years past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Company is exposed to credit risk.
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
a breach of contract such as a default or remains outstanding for more than 730 days, taking
into consideration historical payment track records;
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due.
(ii)

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
(CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. A CGU is the smallest identifiable asset group
that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of financial activities. For the purpose of
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more
than one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and
tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

3.9

Incoming resources

(i)

Provision of medical services

Impairment losses are recognised in income or expenditure.

Revenue from patient and related services is recognised when the Company satisfies a
performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a promised medical service to the
customer. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price allocated to
the satisfied PO.

Impairment losses recognised in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists for all assets. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

3.6

Employee benefits

(i)

Defined contribution plans

The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative standalone selling prices of the promised medical services. The individual standalone selling price of
a medical service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable
selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating
the transaction price to medical services with observable stand-alone selling prices.
Transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Company expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised medical services. The transaction price may
be fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a significant
financing component. Consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price
if the Company does not receive a separate identifiable benefit from the customer.

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
employee benefit expense in statement of financial activities in the periods during which related
services are rendered by employees.
(ii)

3.7

Short-term employee benefits

When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved.

All short-term employee benefits, including accumulated compensated absences, are recognised
in the statement of financial activities in the period in which the employees render their services.

Revenue is net of government subsidies and excludes goods and services taxes or other sales
taxes.

Government grants

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction of
the PO.

Government grants for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
initially recognised as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and the Company will comply with conditions associated with the grant. These
grants are then recognised in the statement of financial activities as “other income” on a
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset to match the corresponding depreciation expense
and amortisation expense respectively.
Government grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognised in the
statement of financial activities as “other income” on a systematic basis in the periods in which
the expenses are recognised, unless the conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related
expenses have been recognised. In this case, the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

3.8

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
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(ii)

Government subvention income
Government subvention income is accounted for on an accrual basis in the statement of financial
activities when there is reasonable assurance that the Company has complied with all the terms
and conditions attached to the subvention and that there is reasonable certainty that the subvention
will be received.

(iii)

Rental income
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

(iv)

Service charge income
Service charge income is recognised when services are rendered.
Retail pharmacy income and sale to other hospitals
Retail pharmacy income and sale to other hospitals are recognised when goods have been
transferred to the buyer.
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(v)

Donation income

3.12

Donations, other than those specified below, are recognised in the period of receipt.
Donations of property, plant and equipment and cash donation received, which is designated for
property, plant and equipment purchases with individual value of more than $1,000 is taken to
deferred income in the period of receipt. The deferred income is amortised over the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment by crediting to the statement of financial activities an amount
so as to match the related depreciation expense.
Cash donation which is designated for specific use other than for property, plant and equipment
purchases is taken to donation fund account in the period of receipt. The donation income is
recognised in the statement of financial activities when the relevant expenditure is incurred.
(vi)

Other income
Other income comprises grant income designated for training purposes, wage credit scheme and
employee credits received or receivable from the Government. Other income is recognised in
income and expenditure when the relevant qualifying costs are incurred.

3.10

Investment income
Investment income comprises net change in fair value of financial assets through income or
expenditure, dividend and interest income on funds invested.
Dividend income is recognised in income or expenditure on the date which the Company’s right
to receive payment is received.
Interest income from funds invested is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest
method.

3.11

Interest income and interest expenses
Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested in FVOCI – debt investments and
fixed deposits. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in income or expenditure, using the
effective interest method.
Interest expenses comprise of interest expense from lease liabilities.
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:



Leases
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

(i)

As a lessee
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property, the Company has elected not to separate
non-lease components and account for lease and non-lease component as a single lease
component.
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will
be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from
various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the
lease and type of the asset leased.

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the
liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest
income reverts to the gross basis.
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:





To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this
is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this
assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major
part of the economic life of the asset.

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise,
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Company is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the rightof-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Company applies the exemption described above, then it
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Company applies FRS 115
to allocate the consideration in the contract.
The Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in FRS 109 to the net
investment in the lease (see note 3.5(i)). The Company further regularly reviews estimated
unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in income or expenditure if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Rental income from sub-leased property is recognised as ‘rental income’.

The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property
in ‘right-of-use assets’ and lease liabilities in ‘lease liabilities’ in the statement of financial
position.

3.13

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

(i)

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Company recognises the
lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Resources expended comprise the following:

(ii)

(ii)

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease.
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Charitable activities
Charitable activities include both direct and related support costs relating to general running of
the Company in generating funds and service delivery.

3.14

Funds structure
Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the management in furtherance of the
general objectives of the Company.
Restricted funds are subjected to restrictions on their expenditure imposed by the donor or through
the terms of an appeal.

As a lessor
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices.

Costs of generating funds
Costs of generating funds include the costs of activities carried out to generate incoming
resources, which will be used to undertake charitable activities.

Covid-19-Related rent concessions
The Company has applied Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to FRS 116. The
Company applies the practical expedient allowing it not to assess whether eligible rent
concessions that are a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications. The
Company applies the practical expedient consistently to contracts with similar characteristics and
in similar circumstances. For rent concessions in leases to which the Company chooses not to
apply the practical expedient, or that do not qualify for the practical expedient, the Company
assesses whether there is a lease modification.

Resources expended

3.15

Reserves policy
The reserves of the Company provide financial stability and the means for the development of the
Company’s activities. The Company maintains the reserves at a level sufficient for its operating
needs.
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239,695
271,026
258,843

Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019
At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to FRS 1)
Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to FRS 16)
Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to FRS 37)
Annual Improvements to FRS(I)s 2018 – 2020

451,742
76,733
(63,933)
464,542
83,747

(82,608)
465,681






Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Written off
At 31 March 2020
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Written off
At 31 March 2021

82,391
339,645
313,604

303,945
80,294
(14,164)
370,075
153,596
(180,713)
(116,262)
226,696

The following new FRSs, interpretations and amendments to FRSs are not expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

386,336
337,548
(14,164)
709,720
127,555
(180,713)
(116,262)
540,300

41,467
104,093
179,333

478,792
33,095
(65,915)
445,972
37,263

(2,400)
480,835

520,259
97,501
(67,695)
550,065
112,503

(2,400)
660,168

A number of new standards, interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 April 2020 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company
has not early adopted the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing these
financial statements.

Office
equipment
$

New standards and interpretations not adopted

Computer
equipment
$

As a registered charity under the Singapore Charities Act, Cap. 37, the Company is exempted
from income tax under Section 13 of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.

691,437
109,251
(65,120)
735,568
88,732

(99,776)
724,524

Medical and
hospital
equipment
$

3.17
Tax

Cost
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Written off
At 31 March 2020
Additions
Disposals
Written off
At 31 March 2021

Property, plant and equipment

3.16

393,787
327,997
255,643

412,180
82,575
(23,215)
471,540
77,844


549,384

805,967
17,880
(24,310)
799,537
5,490


805,027

Furniture
and
fittings
$
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757,340
1,042,761
1,007,423

1,646,659
272,697
(167,227)
1,752,129
352,450
(180,713)
(201,270)
1,722,596

2,403,999
562,180
(171,289)
2,794,890
334,280
(180,713)
(218,438)
2,730,019

Total
$
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5

Right-of-use assets

Cost
At 1 April 2019
Additions
At 31 March 2020
Lease modification
At 31 March 2021
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019
Depreciation for the year
At 31 March 2020
Depreciation for the year
At 31 March 2021
Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019
At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

6

Intangible assets

Cost
At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020
Additions
At 31 March 2021
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2019
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 March 2020
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 March 2021
Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019
At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

Leased
building
$
16,144,063

16,144,063
12,026,073
28,170,136

Office
equipment
$
7,381
5,683
13,064

13,064

7
Total
$

Non-current investments
Debt investments – at FVOCI
Fixed income funds – at FVTPL

16,151,444
5,683
16,157,127
12,026,073
28,183,200


3,874,575
3,874,575
3,948,756
7,823,331


2,261
2,261
3,509
5,770


3,876,836
3,876,836
3,952,265
7,829,101

16,144,063
12,269,488
20,346,805

7,381
10,803
7,294

16,151,444
12,280,291
20,354,099

Investments

Current investments
Debt investments – at FVOCI
Equity investments – at FVOCI
Total investments

18,548
7,266
12,628

15,466,616
22,376,429
37,843,045

3,132,975
9,647,584
12,780,559

269,952
10,598,352
10,868,304

254,448
4,000,347
4,254,795

48,711,349

17,035,354

The Company’s exposure to market risk and fair value information related to investments are
disclosed in Note 24.

8

Computer
software
$

546,153
11,282
557,435
783
558,218

2020
$

Debt investments bear interest rates of 2.63% to 6.00% (2020: 3.15% to 4.80%) with maturity
dates in 2021 to 2031 (2020: 2020 to 2026).

Inventories
Pharmaceutical supplies
Medical and surgical supplies

564,701
6,145
570,846

2021
$

2021
$

2020
$

110,608
108,095
218,703

154,844
171,813
326,657

In 2021, inventories of $2,741,156 (2020: $2,800,235) were recognised as an expense during the
year and included in ‘supplies and consumables’ (see Note 20).

9

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Unbilled receivables
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Amounts due from other hospitals
Government grant receivables
Other receivables
Deposits
Interest receivable
Prepayments

2021
$
1,703,720
4,163,395
(100,000)
5,767,115
610,403
5,031,869
252,781
1,011,855
287,418
12,961,441
129,192
13,090,633

2020
$
1,078,661
4,023,894
(252,174)
4,850,381
677,440
7,489,509
151,618
1,011,855
265,998
14,446,801
816,369
15,263,170

The Company’s exposure to credit and interest rate risks related to trade and other receivables are
disclosed in Note 24.
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10

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand
Fixed deposits with financial institutions
Cash and cash equivalents in statement of financial position
Less: Cash at bank in Medifund Account
Cash and cash equivalents in statement of cash flows

2021
$
24,434,912
38,261,183
62,696,095
(2,751,260)
59,944,835

13

2020
$
17,179,780
43,735,616
60,915,396
(425,612)
60,489,784

11

Restricted funds
Patient welfare fund
Sinking fund

(a)

2021
$
707,062
3,638,000
4,345,062

Net GST payable

935,880
3,638,000
4,573,880

Patient welfare fund

Sinking fund
Sinking fund was set up by the Company for the purpose of major replacements or acquisition of
property, plant and equipment.

12

14

Lease liabilities

Non-current
Current

2020
$

Patient welfare fund was set up by the Company to provide further financial assistance to the
needy patients. This fund further assists the needy patients with the settlement of their outstanding
hospital bills. This fund also allows the hospital’s patients an alternative avenue for further
financial aid to the retrofitting of their homes and purchasing of furniture to enable the patients to
have a safe home environment upon discharge of the patients, as well as assisting the needy
patients to purchase wheelchairs, walking aids and other necessities relating to the welfare of the
patients.
(b)

2021
$

Trade payables
Accrued operating expenses
Liability for short-term accumulating compensated absences
Other payables

The effective interest rate of cash and cash equivalents is 0.36% to 0.85% (2020: 0.25% to 2.27%)
per annum. Interest rate reprices between six months to one year.
Included in cash at bank and in hand is $2,751,260 (2020: $425,612) held on behalf of the
Medifund Account.

Trade and other payables

Fair value reserve

1,738,423
6,209,424
865,285
505,423
9,318,555
735,872
10,054,427

2020
$
1,804,088
5,858,365
615,665
332,422
8,610,540
688,697
9,299,237

2021
$

2020
$

16,610,968
3,926,973
20,537,941

8,566,330
3,833,105
12,399,435

Market and liquidity risks
Information about the Company’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risks is included in
Note 24.
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

2021
Leased building
Office equipment
2020
Leased building
Office equipment

Nominal
interest rate
%

Year of
maturity

Face
value
$

Carrying
amount
$

0.61
1.63 – 1.96

2026
2023

20,862,070
7,538
20,869,608

20,530,537
7,404
20,537,941

1.96
1.63 – 1.96

2023
2023

12,786,430
11,179
12,797,609

12,388,567
10,868
12,399,435

Fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair values of financial assets
designated at FVOCI until the investments are derecognised or impaired.
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Reconciliation of movements to cash flows arising from financing activities

(a)
Lease
liabilities
$

1,385,038
771,752
(190,116)
(654,860)
1,311,814

2020
$
778,840
2,011,368
(205,905)
(1,199,265)
1,385,038

Balance as at 1 April 2019
Changes from financing cash flows
Interest paid
Payment of lease liabilities
Rental subvention from government
Total changes from financing cash flows
Other changes
New leases
Rental subvention from government
Subvention receivable
Interest expense
Total other changes
Balance as at 31 March 2020

16,151,444

5,683
(3,478,014)
220,923
282,476
(2,968,932)
12,399,435

The purpose of the CST matching grant is to enhance the Company’s capabilities and provide
value-added services in relation to ILTC programmes to achieve higher quality care and
affordable step-down care. The CST matching grant may be used to fund recurring operating
expenses and Enhancement Projects as described below.

Balance as at 1 April 2020
Changes from financing cash flows
Interest paid
Payment of lease liabilities
Rental subvention from government
Total changes from financing cash flows
Other changes
Rental subvention from government
Subvention receivable
Interest expense
Lease modification
Rent concession
Total other changes
Balance as at 31 March 2021

12,399,435

(i) enhance the range of and innovate existing ILTC services;
(ii) improve their organisational capabilities; and
(iii) increase their capacity.

(282,476)
(3,757,692)
3,257,091
(783,077)

The Agency for Integrated Care (AIC) will provide a matching grant of one dollar for every
donation dollar raised for Intermediate and Long-term Care (ILTC) programmes by the Company.

Enhancement Projects are programmes or initiatives introduced by certain Operating Units to:

(153,884)
(2,541,627)
2,434,976
(260,535)
(2,455,033)
20,057
153,884
12,026,073
(1,345,940)
8,399,041
20,537,941

Upon utilising the grant to purchase property, plant and equipment for Enhancement Projects, the
grant is recognised as deferred income and is recognised in the statement of financial activities as
“other income” on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset to match the corresponding
depreciation expense.
The CST matching grant has to be utilised before 31 March 2025 for different projects and AIC
has the right to clawback the balance amounts in the event the grants are not used by the stipulated
deadline.
(b)

Grants received from Community Silver Trust Fund
Medifund grant
Other grants

2021
$
(a)
(b)
(c)

1,311,814
2,751,260
498,601
4,561,675

2020
$
1,385,038
425,612
1,250,850
3,061,500
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Both Medifund and Medifund Silver cover Singaporeans receiving subsidised inpatient or
outpatient treatments in Medifund-approved institutions.
(c)

Deferred government grants

Medifund grant
Medifund and Medifund Silver are meant to act as a safety net for needy patients to ensure that
no Singaporean is denied basic healthcare because of inability to pay. Medifund and Medifund
Silver would help a needy patient who faces difficulty affording the remaining portion of his
subsidised medical bill, after drawing on all other means of payment – Medisave, MediShield,
personal medical insurance, employer-provided medical benefits and cash.

$3,257,091 of rental subvention received from government in 2020 were reclassified from
operating activities to financing activities to better reflect the matching of the rental subvention
receipts against the payment of lease liabilities.

100

2021
$

At 1 April
Grant receivable/received
Grant utilised for qualifying expenses
Grant utilised for Enhancement Projects
At 31 March

As at 31 March 2021, the Company has received $2,434,976 (2020: $3,257,091) and recognised
$1,905,534 (2020: $1,885,477) of receivable from Ministry of Health as government grant for
leases.

15

Grants received from Community Silver Trust Fund

Other grants
Other grants include $498,601 (2020: $1,250,850) of deferred income under Job Support Scheme
(“JSS”) which will be recognised in “Grant income” during the months in which the Company
recognises as salary costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. Grant income on JSS is
recognised in the statement of financial activities during the financial year as the business is
impacted from April 2020, following the circuit breaker measures which took effect on 7 April
2020. Grant income on JSS was recognised starting April 2020.
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16

17

Donation income

Patient and related revenue

Tax-exempt receipts of $1,816,937 (2020: $689,335) were issued during the year.

Nature of goods or services

The Company generates revenue from the provision of inpatient
and outpatient services, and supply of drugs.

Investment income

When income is recognised

For inpatient services, income is recognised over time when the
medical services are provided to the patients. For revenue
relating to other patient and related income, revenue is
recognised at a point in time upon completion of medical
services and supply of drugs.

Significant payment terms

Payment is due when invoice is issued and payables within 30
days.

Net change in fair value of financial assets designated at
FVTPL
Gains on derecognition of debt investments at FVOCI –
reclassified to income or expenditure
Dividend income
Interest income from:
- Fixed deposits
- Debt investments

18

Incoming resources from charitable activities

Government subvention income
Patient and related revenue from provision of medical services
Retail pharmacy income
Sale to other hospitals
Rental income
Service charge income
Grant income
- Foreign worker levy rebate
- JSS
- Others
Others

2021
$

2020
$

376,400

(398,428)

59,117
266,777

–
224,241

404,113
748,584
1,854,991

774,068
297,442
897,323

2021
$

2020
$

35,687,807
26,723,579
1,157,506
526,759
1,327,949
1,246,704

35,212,012
23,075,250
1,115,526
691,942
1,830,714
1,273,575

832,290
3,889,347
1,614,758
1,336,500
74,343,199

–
–
1,576,005
596,875
65,371,899

Government subvention income
Ministry of Health (MOH) grant
The purpose of MOH grants is to fund patient requiring rehabilitation and subacute care in
Community Hospitals that provide intermediate care facilities to patients. The funding also covers
dialysis, outpatient and home care services for the elderly.
The MOH grant includes rental subvention to fund the Hospital on its Temporary Occupation
License fees that are payable to the Singapore Land Authority.

Retail pharmacy income
Nature of goods or services

The Company generates revenue from provision of medical and
related items to customers.

When income is recognised

Income is recognised at a point in time when the Company
satisfies a performance obligation when the goods are
transferred to a customer.

Significant payment terms

Payment is due upon delivery to customers.

Sales to other hospitals
Nature of goods or services

The Company generates revenue from provision of drugs and
pharmaceutical supplies to other hospitals.

When income is recognised

Income is recognised at a point in time when the Company
satisfies a performance obligation when the goods are
transferred to other hospitals.

Significant payment terms

Payment is due when invoice is issued monthly and payables
within 30 days.

Rental income and service charge income
Nature of goods or services

The Company generates rental and service charge revenue
under operating leases to hospitals and service providers.

When income is recognised

The Company recognises revenue over time on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Significant payment terms

Payment is due when invoice is issued monthly and payables
within 30 days.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and
the related revenue recognition policies:
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19

Cost of generating funds – donation expenses

Fund-raising cost in current financial year
Under/(Over) accrual of fund-raising cost reversed in current
financial year

22

Leases

2021
$

2020
$

464,103

196,747

The Company leases the hospital building with Singapore Land Authority (“SLA”). The lease
runs for a period of 3 years (2020: 3 years), with an option to renew the lease after that date.

3,980
468,083

(8,988)
187,759

During 2021, the Company signed a new lease agreement to extend the lease for the hospital
building. This was accounted for as a lease modification (see Note 5).

Leases as lessee (FRS 116)

The Company incurred fund raising costs of $464,103 (2020: $196,747), out of which, $462,291
(2020: $185,993) is payable to a related charity, Thye Hua Kwan Moral Society, to procure
donations for the Company.

The Company leases office equipment with contract terms of 3 to 5 years. Some of these leases
are short-term and/or leases of low value items. The Company has elected not to recognise rightof-use assets and liabilities for these leases.
Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below.

20

Charitable activities

Amortisation of intangible assets
Advertising & promotion
Contract services
Contribution to defined contribution plans
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Disallowed input goods and services tax
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment (reversal)/loss on receivables
Insurance
Interest expenses on lease liabilities
Inventories written off
Legal and professional fees
Low value assets written off
Medical professional fees
Operating lease expenses
Property, plant and equipment written off
Rent concession
Repairs and maintenance
Staff costs
Supplies and consumables
Utilities
Other expenses

21

Note
6

4
5
4
22

4

2021
$
783
9,610
6,191,215
1,958,237
352,450
3,952,265
782,874
(7,838)
(87,117)
68,915
153,884
424
75,907
433,662
1,237,513
95,859
17,168
(1,345,940)
469,468
31,908,057
3,125,069
683,247
802,359
50,878,071

Amounts recognised in income or expenditure

2020
$
11,282
83,313
5,722,928
2,550,883
272,697
3,876,836
886,095
–
1,331
89,842
282,476
2,115
66,313
188,284
1,347,863
134,020
4,062
–
655,759
32,393,021
3,328,425
851,766
605,525
53,354,836

Income taxes

FS33
Ang Mo Kio-Thye Hua Kwan Hospital Annual Report 2020/2021

2020
$

(153,884)

(282,476)

1,327,949
–

1,830,714
(2,671)

(95,859)
1,345,940

(131,349)
–

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
2021
$
Cash outflow related to payments of lease liabilities and
interest expenses arising from leases

(2,695,511)

2020
$
(4,040,168)

Rent concessions
The Company negotiated rent concessions with its landlords for lease of the hospital building as
a result of the severe impact of the Covid-19 pandemic during the year. The Company applied
the practical expedient for Covid-19-related rent concessions consistently to eligible rent
concessions related to the hospital building.
The amount recognised in income or expenditure for the reporting period to reflect changes in
lease payments arising from rent concessions to which the Company has applied the practical
expedient for Covid-19 related rent concessions is $1,345,940.

The Company is an approved charity organisation under the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37
and an Institution of a Public Character under the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. No provision for
taxation has been made in the financial statements as the Company is a registered charity with
income tax exemption.

104

Leases under FRS 116
Interest on lease liabilities
Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets presented in ‘rental
income’
Expenses relating to short-term leases
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding shortterm leases of low-value assets
Rent concession

2021
$

Leases as lessor
The Company leases out its leased building (see Note 5). All leases are classified as operating
leases from a lessor perspective.
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Operating lease as lessor

Other related parties transactions

The Company sub-leases out parts of its building. The Company has classified these leases as
operating leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of the assets.

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company
if the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant
influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the
Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related
parties may be individuals or other entities.

Rental income from building sub-lease recognised by the Company during 2021 was $1,133,588
(2020: $1,551,330) and the service charge income from the building sub-lease recognised by the
Company was $1,246,704 (2020: $1,273,575).

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions with related parties
are as follows:

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of payments, showing the undiscounted lease and
service charge payments to be received after the reporting date.

Operating leases under FRS 116
Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 5 years
Total

23

2021
$

2020
$

490,880
2,640
493,520

2,514,520
416,640
2,931,160

Key management personnel of the Company are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company. The Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and Heads of Departments are considered key management personnel of
the Company.
Key management personnel compensation comprised:
2021
$

2020
$

1,556,765
117,949
1674,714

1,570,382
95,351
1,665,733

2021

2020
1
2

1
2

None of the directors earned any directors’ fees or other remuneration in respect of their services
to the Company during the current year and prior year.
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174,246
(180,217)

Financial instruments

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:




credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Company’s management of capital.

The annual remuneration of the Company’s three highest paid staff who each received
remuneration exceeding $100,000, in the following bands in the year were as follows:

106

527,405
(180,257)

Overview

Key management personnel compensation

Number of employees in bands:
$300,001 to $400,000
$200,001 to $300,000

24

2020
$

Financial risk management

Related parties

Short-term employee benefits
Contribution to defined contribution plan

Service fee paid to related charities
Service fee received from related charities

2021
$

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
company’s risk management framework. The Company has a system of controls in place to create
an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The
management continually monitors the Company’s risk management process to ensure that an
appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty
to settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Company, as and when they fall due.
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As at year end, significant concentration of credit risk relates to cash at bank and fixed deposits
placed with financial institutions in Singapore and financial assets held on behalf by a custodian.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the statement of financial position. The Company does not hold any collateral in respect
of its financial assets.
On investment activities, the Investment Committee limits investments to bonds with at least an
investment grade of BBB/Baa2 credit rating or above by Standard & Poor's or Moody's or
equivalent, such as those rated by independent rating units of the fund managers. The fixed
income securities comprise mainly corporate bonds with the above mentioned ratings.
Trade and other receivables
Management has a credit policy in place which establishes credit limits for corporate customers
and monitors their balances on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on corporate
customers for which credit terms are granted. To minimise the risk of bad debts, non-corporate
customers are generally requested to place an initial deposit at the time of admission to the
hospital. Additional deposit is requested from the customers when the hospital charges exceed a
certain level.
Whilst management believes that its credit policy is effective in reducing its credit risk exposure
to an acceptable level, it has to adhere to its overruling principle of not turning away patients who
need medical care regardless of their ability to pay. The Company does not require collateral in
respect of trade and other receivables.
The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its trade receivables.
Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables is limited due to the Company’s many
varied patients and corporate customers. The Company evaluates whether there is any objective
evidence that receivables are impaired, and determines the amount of impairment loss as a result
of the inability of the debtors to make required payments. The Company determines the estimates
based on the financial health of the debtors, aging of the receivables balance, credit-worthiness,
and historical write-off experience. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate,
actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

The Company’s most significant customer, a corporate customer, accounts for $484,353 (2020:
$622,436) of the carrying amount of trade and other receivables as at the reporting date.
Impairment losses
The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was:

Not past due
Past due up to 90 days
Past due more than 90 days
Total gross carrying amount
Loss allowance

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) at
the reporting date (by type of customer) was as follows:
Carrying amount
2021
2020
$
$
Individual patients
Corporate customers
Government agencies

5,559,365
1,320,230
6,081,846
12,961,441

5,869,478
1,208,408
7,368,915
14,446,801
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2020
Not creditCreditimpaired*
impaired
$
$

11,467,930
410,268
1,083,243
12,961,441

12,961,441

12,222,994
782,725
1,441,082
14,446,801

14,446,801



100,000
100,000
(100,000)




252,174
252,174
(252,174)


* Excluding prepayments

The Company believes that the amounts not impaired and are past due are still collectible, based
on historical payment behaviour and extensive analyses of customer credit risk.
Expected credit loss assessment
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables from individual
customers.
Loss rate are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off.
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables for individual customers as at 31 March 2021:

The Company’s historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the
recorded allowances. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk
beyond the amounts provided for collection losses is inherent in the Company’s trade receivables.
Exposure to credit risk

2021
Not creditCreditimpaired*
impaired
$
$

2021
Individual
Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due 181 - 365 days
Past due 365 - 729 days
Past due more than 730 days

Weighted
average loss
rate
%





47.9%

Gross
$
4,361,966
142,301
111,324
183,643
651,395
208,736
5,659,365

Impairment
losses
$





(100,000)
(100,000)
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2020
Individual
Not past due
Past due 1 - 90 days
Past due 91 - 180 days
Past due 181 - 365 days
Past due 365 - 729 days
Past due more than 730 days

Weighted
average loss
rate
%





87.4%

Gross
$
4,080,625
345,182
127,822
1,159,356
120,243
288,424
6,121,652

Impairment
losses
$





(252,174)
(252,174)

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past three years. These rates reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Company’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables. These scalar factors are calculated using statistical models that determine
numeric co-relation of loss rates with relevant economic variables.
The Company considers trade receivables from corporate customers and government agencies to
have a low credit risk by taking into consideration the historical payment, in estimating the risk
of default used in measuring ECL. The amount of the allowance on these balances is insignificant.
Movements in allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables
The movement in allowance for impairment loss in respect of trade and other receivables during
the year was as follows:
$
At 1 April 2019
Impairment loss written back
At 1 April 2020
Amount utilised
Impairment loss written back
At 31 March 2021

311,494
(59,320)
252,174
(65,057)
(87,117)
100,000

Debt investments
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on investments held by investing only in liquid
debt securities and investment funds and only with counterparties that have high credit ratings.
Management actively monitors its counterparties’ credit ratings and given that the Company only
has investments in securities with high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on historical data supplied by Bank of
Singapore and BNP Paribas for each credit rating and are recalibrated based on current bond
yields and CDS prices. Loss given default (LGD) parameters generally reflect an assumed
recovery rate of 40% except when a security is credit-impaired, in which case the estimate of
loss is based on the instrument’s current market price and original effective interest rate.
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The exposure to credit risk for debt investments at FVOCI and fixed income funds at FVTPL at
the reporting date by geographic region was as follows:
Net carrying amount
2021
2020
$
$
Australia
Canada
China
France
India
Singapore

32,047,833
1,583,604
1,900,687
916,112
901,793
762,968
38,112,997






13,035,007
13,035,007

The exposure to credit risk for debt investments and fixed income funds at the reporting date by
industries was as follows:
Net carrying amount
2021
2020
$
$
Financial Services
Real Estate
Real Estate Investment Trust
Asset Management
Offshore & Marine Property
Aviation
Healthcare
Communications
Consultancy

29,182,313
464,291
2,894,219
785,038
1,162,056
1,838,673

921,735
864,672
38,112,997

10,800,513

856,441

254,616
491,839
254,758
245,938
130,902
13,035,007

The amount of the allowance for impairment loss on debt investment and fixed income funds was
negligible. The Company has no collateral in respect of these investments.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company held cash and cash equivalents with banks and financial institution counterparties,
which are rated AA- to BBB+, based on Standard & Poor’s ratings.
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The
amount of the allowance for impairment loss on cash and cash equivalents was negligible.
Other receivables
Impairment on these balances has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis which
reflects the low credit risk of the exposures. The amount of the allowance on these balances is
insignificant.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.
The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects
of fluctuation in cash flows. The Company receives donations from the public and fund-raising
activities organised by Thye Hua Kwan Moral Society and subvention income from the
government.
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments are as
follows:

Note
2021
Trade and other payables^
Lease liabilities

2020
$

15,736,568
38,261,183
53,997,751

3,387,423
43,735,616
47,123,039

The Company is not exposed to any variable rate financial instruments and a change in interest
rate at the reporting date would not affect income or expenditure.
Foreign currency risk
The financial assets and liabilities of the Company are primarily denominated in Singapore
dollars. The Company has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk.
Equity price risk

1 to 5 years
$

13
14

9,318,555 (9,318,555) (9,318,555)
–
20,537,941 (20,869,608) (4,041,594) (16,828,014)
29,856,496 (30,188,163) (13,360,149) (16,828,014)

13
14

8,610,540 (8,610,540) (8,610,540)
12,399,435 (12,797,609) (4,041,451)
21,009,975 (21,408,149) (12,651,991)

2020
Trade and other payables^
Lease liabilities

Carrying
amount
$

Cash flows
Contractual
Within
cash flow
1 year
$
$

Fixed rate instruments
Debt investments
Fixed deposits with financial institutions

2021
$

The Company is exposed to equity price changes arising from quoted equity investments designed
at fair value through other comprehensive income. An increase in the underlying equity prices of
the investments at the reporting date by 10% for the Company would have increased income for
the year and fair value reserve by $1,059,835 (2020: $400,035). Similarly, a decrease in the
underlying equity prices by 10% for the Company would have an equal but opposite effect.
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

–
(8,756,158)
(8,756,158)

^ Excludes net GST payable

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates
and equity prices, will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure
to changes in interest rates relates primarily to interest-earning financial assets. Interest rate risk
is managed by the Company on an on-going basis.
Exposure to interest rate risk
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-earning financial
instruments, as reported to the management, was as follows:
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13

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Trade and other payables ^

9
10

13

Financial assets not measured at fair value
Trade and other receivables *
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Trade and other payables ^
* Excludes prepayments
^ Excludes net GST payable

7

2020
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments

Note

9
10

Financial assets not measured at fair value
Trade and other receivables *
Cash and cash equivalents

* Excludes prepayments
^ Excludes net GST payable

7

2021
Financial assets measured at fair value
Investments

Note



14,446,801
60,915,396
75,362,197



Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
$



12,961,441
62,696,095
75,657,536



Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
$







9,647,584

Mandatorily
at FVTPL
$







22,376,429

Mandatorily
at FVTPL
$







7,387,770

FVOCI
$







26,334,920

FVOCI
$







(9,318,555)

12,961,441
62,696,095
75,657,536

48,711,349

Total
carrying
amounts
$
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48,711,349

Fair value
(Level 1)
$







(8,610,540)

Other
financial
liabilities
$

(8,610,540)

14,446,801
60,915,396
75,362,197

17,035,354

Total
carrying
amounts
$
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Fair value
(Level 1)
$
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(9,318,555)

Other
financial
liabilities
$

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value, as shown in the statement of financial position, are
as follows. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a
reasonable approximate of fair value.

Accounting classifications and fair values
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Determination of fair values
Investment in equity fund managed by fund manager
The fair values of equity fund managed by fund manager classified as FVOCI have been
determined by reference to the quoted bid prices of the underlying equity securities at the
reporting date.
Investment in debt investments and fixed income funds
The fair values of debt investments classified as financial assets carried at FVOCI and fixed
income funds classified as financial assets carried at FVTPL have been determined by reference
to the quoted bid prices at the reporting date.
Other financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year
(including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables)
approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity.
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